

## **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

# Phenomenological Perceptions of Judges, Attorneys, and Victim Service Professionals Regarding Stalking Victimization

Julienne Long Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Psychology Commons

# Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Julienne Long

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

#### **Review Committee**

Dr. Henry Cellini, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Jessica Millimen, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Wayne Wallace, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

#### Abstract

Phenomenological Perceptions of Judges, Attorneys, and Victim Service Professionals

Regarding Stalking Victimization

by

Julienne Long

MPhil, Walden University, 2022

MEd, University of Dayton, 2008

BA, The Ohio State University, 2004

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Forensic Psychology

Walden University

May 2022

#### Abstract

Stalking is a public health crisis and a public safety issue. There is extant research on relationship violence, such as domestic violence and sexual assault; however, stalking is not generally the focus of practitioners. There are no qualitative studies on the perceptions of judges, attorneys, or victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to explore how judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals perceive stalking victimization. Through a qualitative, phenomenological inquiry, six judges, six attorneys, and eight victim service professionals in the state of Ohio were interviewed. Systems theory was used as the theoretical framework. From their responses, six categories were identified: risk factors, stereotypes, treatment, accountability, support and improving systems. Two to three themes were identified under each category. Understanding the perceptions and experiences of judges, attorneys, and victims service professionals provided a voice to a population that is not often considered in the literature: stalking victims. These perceptions may help guide positive social change through offering appropriate services and shine a light on victims of stalking considering the focus has historically been on other types of relationship violence. Because stalking behavior is such a lethality factor, this attention has the potential to save lives.

# Phenomenological Perceptions of Judges, Attorneys, and Victim Service Professionals Regarding Stalking Victimization

by

Julienne Long

MPhil, Walden University, 2022

MEd, University of Dayton, 2008

BA, The Ohio State University, 2004

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Forensic Psychology

Walden University

May 2022

### Table of Contents

List of Tables	v
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	3
Problem Statement	4
Purpose	6
Research Questions	6
Theoretical Framework	7
Nature of the Study	7
Definitions	9
Assumptions	10
Scope and Delimitations	11
Limitations	13
Significance	15
Summary	17
Chapter 2: Literature Review	19
Gaps in the Literature	21
Literature Search Strategy	22
Theoretical Foundation	23
Phenomenological Study	23
The Review of the Literature	24
The Evolution of Stalking as a Crime	25

	Stalking Mentality	29
	Barriers to Understanding the Prevalence of Stalking	31
	The Prevalence of Stalking	36
	Impact of Stalking	41
	Reporting Practices of Victims of Stalking	44
	Justice System Responses	46
	Response of Victim Services	53
	Summary	55
Ch	napter 3: Research Method	58
	Research Design and Rationale	58
	Research Questions	59
	A Phenomenological Approach	60
	Methodology	61
	Data Collection	63
	Data Collection Assumptions	64
	Preliminary Meeting	65
	The Interview Protocol	66
	Data Analysis	66
	Role of the Researcher	68
	Issues of Trustworthiness	69
	Ethical Procedures	69
	Summary	70

Cł	apter 4: Results	72
	Setting	72
	Demographics	73
	Data Collection	76
	Data Analysis	78
	Evidence of Trustworthiness	79
	Credibility	80
	Transferability	80
	Dependability	81
	Confirmability	81
	Results	81
	Risk Factors	82
	Stereotypes	83
	Treatment	85
	Accountability	88
	Support	92
	Improving Systems	96
	Summary	97
Cł	napter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	99
	Interpretation of the Findings	99
	Limitations of the Study	.104
	Recommendations	.106

Implications	108
Conclusion	109
References	111
Appendix A: Demographic Questions	131
Appendix B: Interview Questions	132

## List of Tables

Table 2. Participants' Races74Table 3. Participants' Ages75Table 4. Participants' Average Years Working in Their Profession75Table 5. Participants Who Had Training on Stalking75Table 6. Categories and Themes79Table 7. Accountability Measures89Table 8. Support Measures93	Table 1. Participants' Sex	74
Table 4. Participants' Average Years Working in Their Profession	Table 2. Participants' Races	74
Table 5. Participants Who Had Training on Stalking	Table 3. Participants' Ages	75
Table 6. Categories and Themes	Table 4. Participants' Average Years Working in Their Profession	75
Table 7. Accountability Measures	Table 5. Participants Who Had Training on Stalking	75
	Table 6. Categories and Themes	79
Table 8. Support Measures	Table 7. Accountability Measures	89
	Table 8. Support Measures	93

#### Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

It is estimated that 3.3 million people are stalked annually, and the offender is often a former intimate partner of the victim (Menard & Cox, 2015). Stalking is a pattern of behavior, closely related in time, of intrusive, unwanted contact by an offender that causes fear/mental distress, or a threat being made. Stalking behavior has been viewed in legal case reports since the 18th century but did not become a crime in the United States until the 1990s (Etervoic-Sonic et al., 2017; Scott & Sheridan, 2011). Stalking has become illegal in all 50 states and the District of Columbia in the last 20 years (Bennett Cattaneo et al., 2011). Stalking behavior is hard to escape and may occur both physically and electronically; unwanted contact may include waiting for someone outside their work, school, or residence, and/or frequent unwanted calls/texts/emails (Griner et al., 2017). Additional examples include showing up unannounced and contact made through the internet (e.g., social media or email) or smart devices (e.g., an iPhone or tablet). Stalking behavior invokes fear and mental distress regardless of the type of intrusive behavior.

Stalking behavior is a risk factor for intimate partner homicide, yet there are few studies on stalking victimization (Fox et al., 2016). Topics related to domestic violence tend to dominate the research in the field (Dardis & Gidycz, 2019). Stalking is often an aftermath of domestic violence and a predictor of sexual violence (Matias et al., 2020; Musielak et al., 2020; National Center for Victims of Crime, 2018). In this study, I addressed the topic of stalking victimization through the perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals. To gather these perceptions, judges from various levels

of the Ohio justice system, attorneys that represent defendants and victims, and victim service professionals from varying agencies in Ohio were interviewed.

There is a gap in the literature specifically addressing ways to respond to stalking behavior while engaging victims in the process (Backes et al., 2020). Better outcomes for victims occur when the justice system and victim service professionals work together on behalf of victims of crime (Brame et al., 2015). Potential positive social change implications for this study included increasing the effectiveness of safety planning with victims, appropriately charging stalking as a crime, prosecuting the behavior to the fullest, and providing meaningful and timely advocacy. The goal of this study was to provide strategies that may increase accountability for stalking offenders, reduce suffering, and save lives. Controlling stalking behavior is difficult, but what may improve is the response to it.

I begin this chapter by providing background information on stalking behavior. A problem statement and the purpose of the study are also provided. I then present research questions followed by a description of systems theory, which served as the theoretical framework. The nature of the study is outlined before important terms are defined.

Assumptions critical to the meaningfulness of the study are also clarified. Additionally, the scope of the study and delimitations are listed. Limitations, such as methodological weaknesses and research biases as well as how they will be managed, are also included in this chapter. Lastly, I conclude the chapter by explaining the significance of the study.

#### **Background**

Stalking behavior has evolved over time. Stalking-type behavior was mentioned in legal case reports as far back as the 18th century (Scott & Sheridan, 2011). In the United States, stalking became more widely known in the 1990s after the death of an actress murdered by a fan in California (Coleman, 1997). Stalking became a crime in California soon after, and other states followed (Brady & Nobles, 2017; Cass & Mallicoat, 2015; Pathe & Mullen, 1997).

There are several social implications to stalking. The behavior has been labeled both a public health crisis and a public safety issue (Backes et al., 2020). Considering that stalking increases the chance for femicide, a timely and effective response from the justice system and victim service professionals is necessary (Banyard, 2014; Campbell et al., 2003; Dardis & Gidycz, 2019). Regardless of the relationship between the offender and victim of stalking, the behavior is a predictor of homicide (Smith, 2020).

There is a gap in the literature related to stalking among first responders, police service calls, and the progression through the various stages of the criminal justice system (Brady & Nobles, 2017). In a review of the literature, I found articles on stalking victimization; however, in the extant literature there is little to no focus on the perceptions of judges, attorneys, or victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization. Understanding such perceptions may aid in the response to the behavior (Kinkaide et al., 2005). Research in this area is necessary because of the long-lasting effects of stalking behavior (The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center,

n.d.). Additionally, this study was needed because effective responses from the justice system and victim service professionals may have a direct impact on saving lives.

#### **Problem Statement**

Stalking does not happen occasionally, and it is not a rare phenomenon (Wheatley et al., 2020). Stalking affects 7.5 million people per year (Backes et al., 2020; The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center, n.d.). Between 12% and 16% of women and 4% to 5% of men are stalked in their lifetime (Black et al., 2011). To be considered a crime, the pattern of behavior must cause the target to feel fear and/or mental distress. Stalking invokes financial, physical, and emotional turmoil. An example of a financial impact of stalking is the victim having to move or lose their job because of the stalker's harassment at their workplace. An example of a physical impact of stalking is harm caused to the victim when stalking behavior turns into a physical attack.

Emotional turmoil may include mental distress and possibly having to seek therapy.

Because of the impact of stalking, victims may endure serious and long-lasting effects (The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center, n.d.).

With the evolution of the internet and social media, stalking has evolved from a physical, in-person crime to *cyberstalking*, or stalking through electronic means (Woodlock, 2017). Physical stalking has become less common than unwanted text messages and harassment over social media (Morris et al., 2020). Home security systems and smart devices have provided an easier opportunity for stalkers to monitor their victims, especially if the stalker was a former intimate partner and had access to passwords and log-in information (Messing et al., 2020). Smart devices may include

iPhones, tablets, GPS, Alexa, EchoDots, and Ring doorbell cameras. Cyberstalking may cause more fear and mental distress than physical stalking because of the duration and frequency of exposure to traumatic experiences (Morris et al., 2020). Victims of stalking are identified as such once they have been spied on, had their property vandalized, or were contacted incessantly through electronic communication (Magyarics et al., 2015). Stalking behavior often involves other crimes of violence within the pattern of conduct and may include criminal trespass, violation of a protection order, assault, and domestic violence, to name a few.

Considering the lethality of stalking behavior, research on how the justice system and victim service professionals appropriately respond to stalking behavior in a timely manner is necessary. To provide valuable, rich, and robust data to the justice system and victim service agencies on when and how to intervene with victims of stalking, I explored the lived experiences and perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals among the various levels of the Ohio justice system and different facets of victim service organizations within the state of Ohio concerning stalking victimization.

To date, there is more of a focus in the literature on domestic and sexual violence rather than stalking. For the justice system and victim service professionals to improve their response to stalking victimization, there must be an increased awareness and understanding of how professionals in the various systems think and react to the behavior (Boehnlein et al., 2020).

#### **Purpose**

For the justice system to have the appropriate tools to combat stalking, an understanding of what constitutes stalking, precipitants of the behavior, and increased reporting to the police is needed (Menard & Cox, 2015). Additionally, appropriate accountability measures should be explored. Therefore, the purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study was to understand the lived experiences and perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization. Previous research on stalking victimization has been minimal, so there is little specific extant research on how judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals perceive the behavior. In this study, I conducted an ontological inquiry with a focus on the relationship between victims of stalking, the justice system, and victim services. The results of this study aided in the understanding of the perceptions of the justice system and victim service professionals concerning stalking so that more timely and accurate responses may be provided. These perceptions helped identify specific gaps in the understanding of stalking behavior and determined what training was needed for professionals to better understand stalking victimization.

#### **Research Questions**

The central research questions of the study were:

- 1. What are the lived experiences and perceptions of judges and attorneys within the various levels of the Ohio justice system regarding stalking victimization?
- 2. What are the lived experiences and perceptions of victim service professionals within various agencies in Ohio regarding stalking victimization?

#### Theoretical Framework

Theories are created as central ideas for scientists to explain how things happen and why the world is the way it is (Walden University Center for Research Quality, 2015). The theoretical framework used in this study was systems theory. Ludwig von Bertalanffy developed system theory in 1968 to explain the interchange between organizational relationships, interdependent relationships within the organization, and the organization-environment relationship (Lai & Lin, 2017; Vanderstraeten, 2019). Systems theory has been used in previous research to evaluate how relationships depend on one another when the goal was to analyze how systems react, adjust, and realign to everchanging conditions (Katz & Kahn, 1996).

For this study, the justice system and victim service organizations constituted the systems, and victims of stalking constituted the environment the systems interacted with. I worked to understand the interchange between the justice system, victim service professionals, and victims of stalking by gathering the current perceptions and practices of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals who work in Ohio. The goal of this study was not to change the justice system or victim services but merely to aid in their understanding of stalking victimization so that areas of improvement would be revealed and suggestions would be made to improve the response to victims of stalking.

#### **Nature of the Study**

To understand the lived experiences and perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization, I used the qualitative research method. Much of social science research quantifies, or counts, something and

then analyzes the findings (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Unique to qualitative research is the ability to understand the depth rather than the breadth of a phenomenon (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Moreover, qualitative research allows for an in-depth assessment of a specific phenomenon and provides an opportunity to add attention to detail, context, and nuance (Patton, 2015). Because the purpose of this study was to be more specific than what a generalized hypothesis of statements can convey, I used qualitative research to extract meaningful data on this topic (see Mason, 2010). Additionally, there was a dearth of existing research on the help-seeking behaviors of stalking victims (Reyns & Englebrecht, 2014). It is for these reasons that I qualitatively explored stalking victimization through the lens of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals.

In this study, I employed a phenomenological design. Phenomenology allows the researcher to capture descriptions of how people experience a particular phenomenon (Patton, 2015). By using phenomenology, researchers may gather a culmination of experiences from several individuals who experienced the same phenomenon (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). In this study, the culmination of experiences included the justice system and victim service professionals' interactions with and perceptions of stalking victimization. Research on stalking victimization was needed because of the gap in the literature: The perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals concerning stalking victimization were unknown because researchers have tended to focus on sexual assault and domestic violence (Banyard, 2014; Dardis & Gidycz, 2019).

#### **Definitions**

In this section, I define key concepts that were used throughout this study.

Definitions were extracted from the literature and resources specific to stalking behavior.

Cyberstalking: Stalking through the means of electronic communication or devices that involves using a variety of technological platforms to communicate repeatedly with, harass, and/or threaten a victim of stalking (Nobles et al., 2014). Examples of cyberstalking may include incessant texting/calling, making up fake social media accounts to gain access to victims' profiles, harassing emails, unlawful dissemination of intimate images, and GPS tracking, to name a few.

Mental distress: Substantial emotional distress that may cause a victim of stalking to seek psychological treatment. However, undergoing psychological treatment is not necessary to prove their level of mental distress. Examples of mental distress may include headaches, weakness, weight change, stomach issues, and sleep disorders (Acquardo Maran et al., 2020). Additional symptoms may include psychological damage, increased anxiety, symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder, and changes in everyday habits (e.g., work schedules, driving routes, places known to shop, etc. (Bailey & Morris, 2018; Eterovic-Sonic et al., 2017).

Stalking: A pattern of behavior, or course of conduct, that causes mental distress and/or fear or results in a threat being made; it may be physical and/or electronic in nature. The definition of stalking has been disputed, and there is no one definitive antistalking law (Owen, 2016; Scott & Sheridan, 2011).

#### **Assumptions**

One assumption I made was that the study would generate robust, descriptive data on the perceptions of stalking victimization as they pertained to the justice system and victim service professionals. Qualitative researchers tend to look at events that unfold over time (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). When being interviewed for this study, the judges, attorneys, and victim service personnel had the opportunity to discuss their experiences of working with stalking victims. I asked open-ended, linked interview questions, which were planned in advance, and included main questions, probes, and follow-up questions (see Rubin & Rubin, 2012). During initial interviews, the meaning of the participants' perceptions of stalking victimization revealed itself; therefore, follow-up interviews were not necessary.

I also assumed that the study would pertain to my own experience as a victim service professional who had previously interacted with and provided advocacy for victims of stalking. Realistically, I had my own assumptions and biases related to this topic, but recognizing them was the first step in minimizing them and their effect on the study. I used responsive interviewing in which I ascribed legitimacy to others' points of view. Although my own assumptions and biases were monitored, it did not mean I would not make mistakes. Rubin and Rubin (2012) stated that people do not have to be perfect to do well in the world. When doing data analysis, Engward and Goldspink (2020) recommended not to set aside a time for the process but to have the process be fluid and evolve over time.

A final assumption was that there would be a sample size large enough for data saturation to be met. Saturation is the process of analyzing patterns in a study and continuing to add samples until no new information is gathered (Patton, 2015). Mason (2010) conducted a study on how many participants researchers used for phenomenological studies and found the average to be 20. For this study, I planned to interview 15 to 24 participants or to interview until saturation was met. Considering there was an on-going, worldwide pandemic happening at the time of this study, hot spots of the virus had the potential to prevent me from interviewing people in-person or even at all. When necessary, telephone and Zoom interviews were considered. In-person interviews were the preferred mode of interviewing and took precedent over all other modes available.

#### **Scope and Delimitations**

The research problem addressed in this study was the perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victims service professionals regarding stalking victimization. There was simply a lack of understanding of these perceptions considering practitioners focused more on other types of relationship violence. Judges who work at various levels of the Ohio justice system were interviewed for this study, including those who preside over misdemeanor cases and protection order hearings. Additionally, I interviewed attorneys from various levels of the Ohio justice system, including those who prosecute defendants, provide legal counsel to offenders, work in policy and research, and represent victims at protection order hearings. Victim service professionals interviewed in the study included those who work as a legal advocate, community advocate, advocates who work with non-

English-speaking victims, and professionals who advocate for university students who were victims of crime. I used criterion sampling to ensure all who were interviewed had knowledge of stalking victimization.

The focus of this study was on stalking victimization through the lens of the justice system and victim services. Those who work in the justice system and victim services have direct contact with stalking victims. These professionals also work with victims of domestic violence and sexual assault, which are often where the research focus has been in the past. Stalking behavior is both an aftermath of domestic violence and predictor of sexual assault; therefore, addressing victims in a timely, appropriate manner is necessary (Matias et al., 2020; Musielak et al., 2020; National Center for Victims of Crime, 2018). Additionally, researchers have recognized the gap in the literature as it relates to conversations among and between law enforcement, other first responders, police service calls, and the various levels of the justice system (Brady & Nobles, 2017). Because of the noticeable gap in the literature on the perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization, I focused on obtaining rich, robust, and descriptive lived experiences from those professionals in this study. Obtaining a better understanding of their perceptions and experiences provided an opportunity to develop safety plans, increase and improve responses to victims of stalking, and improve the ability to impart specific strategies to enhance victim engagement.

Transferability refers to how well a study can be applied, or the degree to which it can reach beyond the bounds of the study. My goal was for this study to be applicable to

similar situations or individuals. The focus of this study was on the Ohio justice system and victim service professionals working in the state of Ohio. The findings could be reviewed by judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals who work with victims of stalking whether in Ohio or beyond. The perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization in this study were unique to these participants. Stalking is not just a national dilemma; it may be deemed a worldwide phenomenon because the rate of stalking behavior in the United States is similar per capita to that of other countries (Sheridan et al., 2016). Therefore, this study could be reviewed and utilized across the entire world.

#### Limitations

When conducting studies, both the researcher's biases and other threats to internal validity should be considered (American Psychological Association [APA], 2020). One suggested way to manage researcher bias is to recognize the tools for measurement, sample size, and barriers to conducting the study (APA, 2020). Regarding researcher bias, I had my own experiences as a victim service professional who worked with victims of stalking. It is possible my experience may contradict what others in the industry think of stalking victimization. Creswell and Creswell (2018) said researchers can present evidence contrary to the general perspective of the phenomenon; such contradictory evidence may even provide a more realistic and more valid account at hand. What was important to avoid was confirmation bias, or the tendency to include preexisting ideas of a phenomenon. Reflexivity, or how a researcher inputs their own interpretation of a

study, increased the study's reliability and validity. Without this recognition, the robustness of a study may be limited.

Although limitations may decrease the validity of a study, recognizing there are limitations may help the integrity of the study remain. Another limitation of this study was that qualitative research is less robust than quantitative or mixed method research. Qualitative research turns data into findings, but there is no sure formula for doing so (Patton, 2015). The sample size of qualitative research is much smaller than quantitative research, but the massive amount of data in interviews, observations, field notes, and documents must be sifted through to extract meaningful and significant data (Patton, 2015). Additionally, there is no one straight forward test that can be applied for reliability and validity (Patton, 2015). The goal in qualitative research is to reach data saturation, or the process of the themes repeating themselves. Professionals discussing their lived experiences of stalking victimization may have experienced many of the same phenomena, and recognizing these phenomena may enhance victim services.

Researchers should consider the targeted population versus the available sample (APA, 2020). An additional limitation to the study was outside forces that could have impacted the sample size. Although the goal was to interview between 15 and 24 people, considering the COVID-19 pandemic had impacted the entire globe at the time of this study, it could have been difficult to reach this range. To accommodate barriers the pandemic may have presented, I considered using other modes of interviewing, such as telephone and Zoom interviews. In person, one-on-one interviews took precedent over all other modes of interviewing. Additionally, a non-representative sample could have been

a limitation to the study. Some people have proven to have more access to medical care and a vaccine than others, and this could have impacted the variability of research participants.

Stalking behavior is a crime that is difficult to investigate and prosecute (Brady & Hayes, 2018). Boehnlein et al. (2020) pointed out that law enforcement, judges, prosecutors, and other criminal justice personnel need more education and training on the topic of stalking. Those interviewed may have been reticent to discuss their true perceptions of stalking victimization because of unawareness of the behavior, what constitutes the behavior as a crime, and what victims of stalking need to feel supported and safe. Participants may have answered questions without providing much detail, too simply, or too broadly (see Rubin & Rubin, 2012). To gain robust descriptions of their experiences as a professional working with stalking victims, I translated questions that may have been deemed broad and abstract into specific, concrete inquiries. This technique provided participants with the opportunity to recall their experiences to the best of their ability (see Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Furthermore, I provided participants with the opportunity to expand on what was lacking in the justice system and victim services as it related to stalking victimization. By acknowledging that there were shortcomings, participants were more willing to talk about holes in the systems they had experienced.

#### **Significance**

Sexual assault and domestic violence have dominated the research on relationship violence (Banyard, 2014; Dardis & Gidycz, 2019). Little research has been conducted on the legal system as it relates to stalking victimization, although researchers in the social

sciences are beginning to recognize the impact stalking has on the criminal justice system and mental/public health systems (Brewster, 2001; Nobles et al., 2018). The problem I addressed in this study was closing the identifiable gap concerning the perceptions that judges, attorneys, and victim service personnel ascribed to stalking victimization. I worked to close this gap by providing meaningful, robust data on stalking victimization through conducting a qualitative, phenomenological study. By assessing the lived experiences of justice system and victim service professionals, developing an understanding of these perceptions had the potential to advance and improve current practices being implemented by professionals working with victims of stalking.

There is a risk to validity when victims are asked to describe their own experiences of stalking because of their lack of knowledge of stalking and what makes the behavior a crime (Nobles et al., 2018). Professionals in the field of criminal justice and victim services have more knowledge and training in the field of stalking than victims of stalking do. However, the ambiguity of a stalking definition creates challenges for both victims of stalking and professionals in the field (Reyns & Englebrecht, 2014). Considering the lethality of stalking behavior, professionals in the justice system and victim services should be competent in assessing victims' risk level (Lynch et al., 2019). For there to be an appropriate and timely response to victims of stalking, there must be a better understanding of the responses provided by the justice system and victim services, which may be done by assessing their beliefs (Boehnlein et al., 2020). Currently, such responses by the justice system and victim services are not clearly understood (Brady & Hayes, 2018). Moreover, by assessing the perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim

service professionals regarding stalking victimization, there was an opportunity to better understand how to provide more timely and appropriate response to victims, develop better safety planning techniques, arrive at an identifiable means of understanding the risks of stalking behavior, and implement appropriate accountability for stalking offenders. Ultimately, this study had the potential to provide insight into a lethal behavior that may save lives. It is for these reasons this study could make a positive impact on social change.

#### **Summary**

In the first section of this chapter, I provided background on stalking behavior followed by a problem statement and purpose of the study. Research questions were provided. Systems theory was detailed as the theoretical framework. The chapter also included a description of the qualitative, phenomenological method of inquiry and important terms, such as cyberstalking, mental distress, and stalking were defined. Clarifications regarding assumptions critical to the meaningfulness of the study were discussed. Additionally, I listed the scope of the study and delimitations as well as presented the limitations, such as methodological weaknesses and research biases, and how they were managed. Lastly, the chapter concluded with a discussion of the significance of the study.

In Chapter 2, I will provide a much deeper analysis of stalking behavior. The chapter will include a review of the literature, barriers to understanding the prevalence of stalking behavior, the prevalence of stalking, precipitants of stalking, impact of stalking,

reporting practices of victims of stalking, the justice system response to stalking, and the response of victim services.

#### Chapter 2: Literature Review

Stalking behavior constitutes recurrent, unwanted, intrusive behavior that causes mental distress (Yahya & Khawaja, 2020). Unique to stalking behavior charged as a crime is the requirement of a series of acts targeted at a specific person; all other crimes require a single incident for there to be probable cause to charge the offense (Brady & Hayes, 2018; Brady & Nobles, 2017; Owens, 2016). Lynch et al. (2019) said stalking may involve surveillance, unwanted contact, the spreading of rumors, threat of violence, property damage, and actual violence. According to Black et al. (2011), the National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey reported the most common type of stalking behavior as calls/texts, followed by in-person contact. Wood and Stichman (2018) agreed that the most common method stalkers use to contact their victims is their phone.

With the evolution of the internet and social media, a new type of interpersonal violence has emerged that is known as *cyberstalking* (Woodlock, 2017). Much like the lack of a definitive definition of stalking, there is no widespread definition of cyberstalking either (Wilson et al., 2021). For this study, cyberstalking referred to stalking through electronic communication, social media, and/or electronic devices. Unwanted text messages and social media harassment are more common than in-person, or physical, stalking (Morris et al., 2020). Cyberstalking may cause the same, if not more, mental distress because of the constant reminders of trauma and frequent exposure to traumatic experiences (Morris et al., 2020). Surveillance by an intimate partner has become easier with the evolution of technology-connecting devices to everyday objects, such as home security systems and smart devices (Messing et al., 2020). Smart devices

may include Amazon Alexa, Echo Dots, Ring doorbells, cell phones, tablets, GPS), and Smart TVs, to name a few. Smart devices allow access to homes, personal lives, daily routine, and location. Individuals identify themselves as stalking victims once they have been spied on or followed, their property has been vandalized, and/or they have received unwanted electronic communication (Magyarics et al., 2015).

Over the past 30 years, stalking has gained the attention of the criminal justice system, the government, and campus universities (Myers et al., 2016). Social scientists have found the topic of stalking to be of interest since the 1900s (Acquardo Maran et al., 2020). Additionally, in the last 20 years, researchers have turned their attention to the topic of stalking (Fox et al., 2016). An estimated 5% of men and 8% of women will be stalked in their lifetime (Wood & Stichman, 2018). Most notably, stalking is a risk factor for intimate partner homicide (Spencer & Stith, 2020). The problem I addressed in this study was stalking victimization. The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study was to provide valuable, rich, and robust data to increase the understanding of the lived experiences of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals and their perceptions of stalking victimization in the state of Ohio.

In this chapter, I conduct a review of the literature focusing on the themes surrounding the prevalence and dangers of stalking behavior, its impact on victims, and reactions from various professionals who respond to stalking behavior. To prepare for this study, I reviewed significant scholarship on the evolution of stalking as a crime, stalking-type mentality, barriers to understanding the prevalence of stalking, the impact of stalking, victim responses to the behavior, justice systems' responses to stalking

behavior, and victim service personnel's responses to stalking-type behavior. While conducting my search, I found few studies addressing the perceptions of stalking behavior by judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals. Historical texts between 1996 and 2011 provided a foundation for understanding the prevalence, severity, nature, and progression of stalking behavior. Moreover, these historical texts outlined the need for the justice system and victim service professionals to respond appropriately and quickly to stalking-type cases. Based on the literature review, I identified a gap in knowledge concerning the perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization.

#### **Gaps in the Literature**

Stalking behavior has proven to be lethal, yet few studies have been conducted on stalking victimization (Fox et al., 2016). Even though stalking has been shown to increase intimate partner homicide, the unwanted pursuit of an intimate partner is less of a focus than the more dominant topic of domestic violence in the literature (Dardis & Gidycz, 2019). Researchers have focused much more on sexual assault than relationship abuse or stalking (Banyard, 2014). Although variables related to sexual assault have been previously examined in the literature, stalking-type behavior has increasingly become a point of concern for college administrations and institutions (Wood & Stichman, 2018). Backes et al. (2020) described intimate partner stalking as a public health crisis and a public safety issue; however, it is a largely unstudied area, especially victim engagement and responses to stalking behavior. Social science researchers are beginning to recognize stalking behavior and its impact on the criminal justice system and mental and public

health systems (Nobles et al., 2018). There is a noticeable gap surrounding discussions about stalking between first responders, police service calls, and the progression through the various stages of the criminal justice system (Brady & Nobles, 2017). The purpose of this study was to understand the perceptions of stalking victimization through the lens of the justice system and victim services. The intent was to interview professionals across the fields of the justice system and victim services to form a better understanding of a holistic approach to stalking victimization. Additionally, a more in-depth understanding could aid professionals in establishing effective responses to stalking-type behavior, increase safety planning measures, and provide strategies to enhance victim engagement.

#### **Literature Search Strategy**

I used the Walden University Library to locate literature for this review. To understand statistics when reviewing stalking prevalence, databases such as the *Bureau of Justice Statistics* and *Criminal Justice Database* were reviewed. *Gale OneFile: Legal Trac* was used to understand the legal background of stalking. I searched *Nexi Uni*, *Psychology Databases Combined*, *PsycARTICLES*, *PsycINFO*, and *SAGE Journals* with the following key words and/or phrases: *stalker and stalking, victim and survivor and victimization, coercive control, risk assessment, protection order, court and criminal justice and judge and attorney, victim service professional and advocate, domestic violence or sexual violence and stalking, fear or mental distress*, and victim impact statement and plea and judge. Additionally, books on crime and violence were consulted, such as *The Gift of Fear* (1997), *Behave: The Biology of Humans at Our Best and Worst* (2017), and *The Anatomy of Violence: The Biological Roots of Crime* (2013).

#### **Theoretical Foundation**

I used systems theory as the theoretical framework for this study. Developed by Ludwig von Bertalanffy in 1968, systems theory is used to analyze system viewpoints and then develop them (Vanderstraeten, 2019). This theory can be applied to organizations by analyzing how they react, adjust, and realign to changing conditions (Katz & Kahn, 1966). Lai and Lin (2017) described systems theory facets as organizational relationships, interdependent relationships within the organization, and the organization-environment relationship. Harrison (2005) proposed an open-system model that would evaluate the cyclical relationship between input, change, and output within organizations. Specifically, the process included systems receiving input from the environment, processing the input internally, and then releasing outputs back into the environment (Touson et al., 2020). The goal of this study was to better understand the perceptions of stalking victimization through the lens of the criminal justice system and victim services (i.e., input), how said professionals manage the behavior (i.e., process), and then what can be done to effectively support stalking victims (i.e., output).

#### **Phenomenological Study**

The purpose of this phenomenological investigation was to understand the perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization. Phenomenology is a design that researcher use to capture descriptions of what people experience and how they experience it (Patton, 2015). Furthermore, phenomenological research provides an opportunity for a culmination of experiences from several individuals who have experienced the same phenomenon (Creswell &

Creswell, 2018). In this study, I interpreted stalking through the lived experiences of research participants. Use of the Phenomenological design provided an opportunity to extract detailed descriptions from individuals that may allow the findings of this study to provide real-world prevention strategies and effective practices for enhancing victim engagement and safety planning (see Backes et al., 2020; Creswell & Creswell, 2018). This design was used to interpret the meaning and understanding of both individual and shared experiences common to judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals managing victims of stalking-type cases.

#### The Review of the Literature

Several themes emerged in my review of the literature. Previous researchers had continuously noted varying definitions of stalking behavior; because of the many contexts in which stalking occurs, an agreed upon definition is lacking (Magyarics et al., 2015). Moreover, reporting practices, or lack thereof, have impacted data for understanding the prevalence of stalking behavior. Reasons for not reporting stalking behavior often mirror the same reason victims do not report rape or sexual assault and include not knowing if what is happening to them is a crime (Wood & Stichman, 2018).

Additionally, the prevalence of stalking is growing. According to The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center (n.d.), stalking affects 7.5 million people per year and is typically perpetrated by a former intimate partner (Baum et al., 2009; Black et al., 2011). According to the National Crime Victimization Survey Victim Analysis Tool (2019), about 1 in 4 victims of crime are physically injured at some point

during the offense. The lethality of stalking behavior necessitates appropriate and timely responses from the justice system and victim service professionals.

Backes et al. (2020) described intimate partner stalking as a public health crisis and a public safety issue, yet it is a largely unstudied area, especially victim engagement and responses to the behavior. Although researchers have focused more on sexual assault than relationship abuse or stalking, the prevalence and lethality of stalking has gained momentum in research in the last 20 years (Banyard, 2014). However, the number of researchers seeking to understand the experiences of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization has been limited. Researchers have generally focused on stalking victims' experiences, but they have not yet described the experiences and perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization. Kinkaide et al. (2005) reported understanding perceptions of stalking behavior may aid in responding to the behavior. To create a better understanding of stalking, in the following sections I review topics from the extant literature: the evolution of stalking as a crime, stalking mentality, barriers to understanding the prevalence of stalking, the prevalence of stalking, impact of stalking, reporting practices, justice system responses, and the response of victim services.

#### The Evolution of Stalking as a Crime

Stalking and other predatory behaviors have been known to exist for over 200 years. The term *stalking* was adopted from hunting terminology and appeared in legal case reports as early as the 18th century (Drebing et al., 2020; Scott & Sheridan, 2011). In 1912, Denmark became the first country to enact a stalking law (Meloy & Felthous,

2011). National attention on stalking as a crime in the United States came about in 1989 after the death of U.S. actress Rebecca Schaeffer, who was shot and killed by a fan in California (Coleman, 1997). In North America, antistalking laws began to take effect in the 1990s in the state of California (Brady & Nobles, 2017; Cass & Mallicoat, 2015; Pathe & Mullen, 1997). Since that time, stalking has been the subject of media coverage, and it is suggested that stalking has reached an epidemic level (Kinkade et al., 2005). Because of media coverage, stalking has been a hot topic among legislators, resulting in many new crime laws specific to stalking-type behavior (Kinkade et al., 2005). Stalking became known as "the crime of the nineties" (Carter, 2016, p. 335).

Currently, all U.S. states and some countries, such as Australia and the United Kingdom, have antistalking laws (National Institute of Justice, 1996; Scott & Sheridan, 2011). Stalking laws in the United States and Australia are focused on repeated unwanted contact by an offender, whereas in the United Kingdom, repeated behavior is not needed to prove a crime. Enacted in 1994, the Violence Against Women Act, marked a turning point in U.S. history with the formation of responses to domestic violence, sexual assault, and stalking as crimes (Carter, 2016). The United States requires that a reasonable person deem the behavior as stalking, according to the Protection from Harassment Act of 1997 (Scott et al., 2014). The Protection from Harassment Act of 1997 Section 4A stated that a person's conduct amounts to stalking when the offender either causes a person to feel fear on at least two different occasions or causes the target distress that substantially impacts their day-to-day activities (Leggett, 2017). Additionally, the offender must know their behavior will cause the target to feel fear or imminent danger (Leggett, 2017). The

Violence Against Women Act, as part of the Violence Crime Control and Law Enforcement Act, made it a federal offense to cross state lines to commit domestic violence or violate a protection order and was followed by the Interstate Stalking Act in 1996, which made it a federal offense to cross state lines to stalk someone (Dreke et al., 2020). The Protection from Harassment Act of 1997 also classified stalking as a crime in Europe and the United Kingdom (Villacampa & Salat, 2019). Soon after, other countries followed suit with legislation declaring stalking a crime in Austria in 2006, Germany in 2007, and Italy in 2009 (Acquadro Maran & Varetto, 2017; Villacampa & Salat, 2019). The Uniform Code of Military Justice also recognized stalking as a criminal offense (Dreke et al., 2020).

On a national level, in January 2012, President Barack Obama held a round-table discussion with criminal justice professionals, victim advocates, researchers, and survivors of stalking (National Stalking Awareness Month, 2013). In December 2012, President Obama made a proclamation that January 2013 would be known as Stalking Awareness Month and called upon all Americans to recognize the dangers of stalking while encouraging survivors to reach out (National Stalking Awareness Month, 2013).

According to Meloy and Felthous (2011), police once viewed stalking with "curiosity, indifference, and even disdain" (p. 139), but the behavior has grown to be charged as a felony level crime in many jurisdictions across the world (Scott et al., 2014). Title 18 of the U.S. Code §2261A (2018) made it a federal offense to travel across state lines with the intent to kill, injure, harass, intimidate, or place under surveillance with intent to kill, injure, harass, or intimidate another person, and in the course of, or as a

result of, such travel or presence engages in conduct that causes a reasonable person to feel fear and/or mental distress. Although stalking can be charged as either a misdemeanor or felony, the penalty for stalking behavior varies among all 50 states (Carter, 2016). Most states, however, do not deem stalking as a felony when it is a first offense (National Center for Victims of Crime, 2018).

## Stalking: A National Dilemma

Stalking affects 7.5 million people per year (The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center, n.d.). Black et al. (2011) said in the last 20 years, legal professionals and scholars recognized stalking as a social and criminal problem in the United States. Over the last decade, stalking became a point of concern for mental health professionals (Rosenfield et al., 2019). Intimate partner stalking lasts longer than stranger stalking, sometimes lasting many years (Woodlock, 2017). Pathe and Mullen (1997) studied 100 victims of stalking and found the average length of time that stalking offenders pursued their targets was 2 years. Additionally, researchers identified that being approached directly by the stalker occurred 78% of the time and death threats came in the form of cards and letters with pictures of crosses and gravestones, as well as stalkers directly saying to victims that their house would be burned down (Pathe & Mullen, 1997). McEwan et al. (2017) studied 157 individuals with a background in violence, and those identified as stalkers pursued their targets for an average of 12 weeks, some for only a day, and one for 17.5 years. Based on these findings, stalkers may be known to relentlessly pursue their targets.

Stalkers are dangerous in a myriad of ways (Logan & Lynch, 2017). One example is that stalking is a pre-incident risk factor to femicide (Campbell et al., 2003). Logan and Walker (2017) described stalking as a public safety risk when stalking perpetrators viewed victims a collateral damage. Ameral et al. (2020), Carter (2016), and Chen et al. (2020) described stalking as a public health problem. Backes et al. (2020) and Rai et al. (2020) described intimate partner stalking as a public health crisis and a public safety issue. Cass and Mallicoat (2015) described stalking as a widespread social problem. Not only may stalking be identified as a national dilemma, but it may also be considered a worldwide phenomenon considering stalking experiences in other countries are similar to those in the United States (Sheridan et al., 2016).

# **Stalking Mentality**

Wheatley et al. (2020) noted an absence in the literature of qualitative studies about stalking offenders. Similar to the difficulty in defining stalking behavior, it is difficult to categorize stalking offenders (Wheatly et al., 2020). Stalking has been linked to isolated, socially inept individuals with high levels of sensitivity (Wheatley et al., 2020). Like precipitants to stalking victimization, there may be precipitants to stalking offending. Whether stalking is environmentally, biologically, or neurologically based should be considered. These categories are discussed in the following sections.

#### **Environmental**

The environment in which we are raised and live impacts our behavior.

Individuals model their behavior after those closest to them whether that be family, friends, peers, or mentors. Appropriate peer interaction builds social competence;

therefore, children who are deprived of opportunities to play or are disinterested in play rarely have a fulfilling adult life (Sapolski, 2017). Deficits in appropriate social interactions impact the ability to form healthy relationships as adults. Furthermore, childhood adversities impact individuals' learning and memory (Sapolski, 2017). Adversities may include abuse, neglect, malnutrition, and instability, and may impact brain development and growth over time. The environment in which one grows up impacts not only people's behavior, but it also impacts individuals biologically. Epigenetics is the study of how behaviors and the environment impact the ways genes work. According to Sapolski (2017), epigenetics may have lasting effects and may even be multigenerational. In studies on the environment versus genes impacting criminal behavior, the battle between the two is a tie (Raine, 2013).

## **Biological**

Raine (2013) said aggression and violence are heritable traits. According to a research study in 1961, the possibility of an increased chance of being a criminal comes down to an extra chromosome in the body of males; this is not an inheritable trait but simply a mutation of chromosomes at conception (Raine, 2013). People receive genes from their parents but what also plays an important role in our character is the presence of a mother in our life (Sapolski, 2017). Attachment, or lack thereof, with a mother figure absolutely impacts the ability to maintain healthy relationships with others and develop a keen sense of self. Additionally, chemicals in our brain may also impact our ability to self-regulate.

### **Barriers to Understanding the Prevalence of Stalking**

Since stalking became known nationally in the United States in the 1990s, there have been several barriers that have impacted the understanding of the justice system and victim service professionals' perception of stalking victimization (Brady & Nobles, 2017; Cass & Mallicoat, 2015; Pathe & Mullen, 1997). Conceptualization, perceptions, underreporting of stalking behavior, shaming and blaming, and various legal and general definitions of stalking are major deterrents in understanding the prevalence of stalking victimization. These barriers impact the way the justice system and victim service professionals understand stalking behavior, which may negatively affect the level of support they provide stalking victims.

# Conceptualization of Stalking

Understanding how professionals in the justice system and victim service personnel perceive stalking victimization has been hindered because of the lack of a universal definition of stalking. It is difficult to address the concept of stalking when not one justice system or police jurisdiction has agreed on what constitutes stalking. The indecisiveness of the justice system confuses victims in terms of what constitutes stalking as a crime. Victims may not know that the behaviors that they are experiencing are unlawful or whether they fit the legal definition of stalking (Boehnlein et al., 2020; Ngo & Paternoster, 2016). Stalking behavior generally involves three elements: a pattern of behavior, a credible threat, and an intent to harm (Meloy & Felthous, 2011). Stalking often involves frequent calls, texts, leaving gifts, showing up unannounced, and probing friends and family for information about the target (Logan & Walker, 2017). This type of

behavior is also associated with normal courtship behavior, which can be confusing to responding authorities.

# Perception of Stalking

Stalking is perceived as following someone around, yet the behavior involves much more than that (Boehnlein et al., 2020). A misconception was that stranger stalking is more dangerous than a stalker known to the victim (Cass, 2020). Scott et al. (2014) said the current perceptions of stalking behavior failed to reflect the reality that former intimate partners pose the most threat to targets. Additionally, law enforcement professionals are more likely to consider stranger stalking to be more dangerous than cases involving former intimate partners (Scott & Sheridan, 2011). The motive of stranger stalking is unknown (Hills & Taplin, 1998). Stalking by a former partner is often about regaining control. Scott et al. said targets of stalking are perceived to be less responsible for their behavior if the offender is a stranger and conversely, the offender is deemed more responsible for the behavior if he or she is a former intimate partner. The dichotomy creates a victim blaming mentality and impacts reporting practices for victims of stalking. Stalking behavior is often denied, dismissed, or minimized regardless of the victim-offender relationship (Logan & Walker, 2017). Furthermore, Boehnlein explained when there is a contrast between the legal definition and the public perceptions of stalking, it downplays the severity of stalking behavior.

Perceptions of a victim are often left up to the discretion of the responding officer.

Women may be deemed too calm or too hysterical by law enforcement. Sometimes fear manifests as anger, and angry victims may be difficult for law enforcement personnel to

work well with; this is especially true when an angry victim is a person of color (Dreke et al., 2020). Kinkaide et al. (2005) said discretion plays a huge part in perceptions of stalking behavior within the criminal justice system and recognizing this during the decision-making process may improve justice reform. Perceptions of stalking behavior differ. Likewise, perceptions of victims of stalking differ. Training and education regarding legal definitions of stalking and appropriate ways in which the criminal justice system responds to stalking are needed (Scott et al., 2014).

## **Underreporting of Stalking**

College students who are victims of sexual assault, dating violence, and stalking do not generally seek outside help (Ameral et al., 2020). Many victims of stalking do not report the behavior to legal authorities (Cass & Mallicoat, 2015; Wood & Stichman, 2018). Ngo and Paternoster (2016) said the least common coping mechanism of stalking victimization was reporting it to the police. Brady and Nobles (2017) said in comparison to other interpersonal crimes, stalking is drastically underreported. Targets struggled to identify themselves as stalking victims because they did not see their experience as fitting with societal stereotypes (Demers et al., 2017). Additionally, women, specifically, minimized stalking behavior, which impacted their decision to report incidences to formal authorities (Acquadro et al., 2017). To establish probable cause for stalking, one must show a pattern of behavior (Brady & Hayes, 2018). However, victims often call the police to report one incident and not a pattern; therefore, reporting practices are inconsistent. Drebing et al. (2020) found that 20.5% of victims contacted the police in 2018.

Men also experience stalking but do not report it to the police for fear of not being believed (Acquardo Maran et al., 2020). Men allowed stalking behaviors to continue much longer than women before contacting the police (Acquardo Maran et al., 2020). The perception of shame and embarrassment impacts reporting practices to formal authorities, and this is especially true for male victims (Cass & Mallicoat, 2015). The biased misrepresentation of stalking may exacerbate the unwillingness of men to report stalking (Acquardo Maran et al., 2020).

Scott et al. (2014) said participants noted they were more likely to involve the police if the perpetrator was a stranger. However, victims of stalking typically know the offender in some capacity (Baume et al., 2009). Reasons for not reporting the behavior to formal authorities include worrying that no charge would be filed because of lack of evidence and concern that behaviors would not be taken seriously by the police (Wood & Stichman, 2018). Ameral et al. (2020) said the primary reasons for not reporting stalking among college students was victims not perceiving the behavior as serious and deeming the situation as private. What increases the likelihood of reporting to formal authorities is a greater perceived threat by the victim. This may include threats to harm them or their family members.

### Shaming and Blaming

Victims may feel embarrassed and experience shame because of their stalking experiences (Yahya & Khawaja, 2020). For women who knew their stalker, they were often blamed for not being able to control their former partner's behavior, and they were also blamed if they called the police (Cass, 2020). The greatest blame for stalking

behavior is often on women who had a one-night stand and were relentlessly pursued thereafter (Cass, 2020). Women are often scrutinized for putting themselves in harm's way whereas the focus should be on the behavior of the offender.

# Legal and General Definitions of Stalking

The definition of stalking continues to be disputed (Owens, 2016). There is no one definitive anti-stalking law (Scott & Sheridan, 2011). Stalking is defined differently in legislation and legal codes (Boehnlein et al., 2020). Kinkaide et al. (2005) said stalking is a difficult crime to define. Furthermore, a uniform definition of stalking has yet to be established among criminal justice professionals (Brady & Nobles, 2017). Although stalking is a crime in all 50 states, the District of Columbia, and U.S. territories, legal statutes and definitions vary from state to state (The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center, n.d.). Moreover, even though every state in the United States has stalking legislation, there is still some disagreement as to what constitutes stalking (Magyarics et al., 2015). The lengthy process of stalking is what makes it hard to define and legislate against (Scott et al., 2014). Owens (2016) called upon researchers and policy makers to decide on a definition of stalking that encompasses the behaviors and the reactions they invoke.

Varying definitions of stalking can be confusing to the police and may impact response time (Dardis & Gidycz, 2019). Researchers have mentioned that the definition of stalking is ambiguous, which creates challenges for practitioners and victims of stalking (Reyns & Englebrecht, 2014). Legislation should be based on stalkers' actions, victims' reactions, and threats toward targets known to the victim (Magyarics et al.,

2015). State laws vary in what behaviors constitute stalking, the level of threat or fear stalking must invoke, and how often the behaviors must occur (Owens, 2016). Menard and Cox (2016) said legal definitions of stalking vary from state to state. Varying definitions are partly due to the course of conduct one must prove because individual incidents seem noncriminal (National Center for Victims of Crime, 2018). Stalking behavior is perceived differently, and depending on what country stalking occurs in, culture significantly impacts the perception of intimate partner violence which has a direct connection to stalking behavior (Sheridan, Arianayagam et al., 2019). Victims must articulate that the crime they are experiencing is stalking for the criminal justice system to respond (Menard & Cox, 2016). Considering that the definition of stalking is unclear, being able to label stalking as the crime one is experiencing has proven to be difficult.

### The Prevalence of Stalking

Stalking is not a rare phenomenon (Wheatley et al., 2020). Stalking affects 7.5 million people per year (Backes et al., 2020; The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center, n.d.). Black et al. (2011) said between 12% and 16% of women and 4% to 5% of men are stalked in their lifetime. Stalking victimization is especially prevalent on college campuses (Cass & Mallicoat, 2015). In a study by Fedina et al. (2020) of eight Southwestern universities and over 26,000 college students between the ages of 18 and 24, it was reported that between 11.5% and 21.1% of college students experienced stalking victimization since starting college. Additionally, in a study conducted by Myers et al. (2016) of 910 college women at three different institutions in North America, 22%

revealed being stalked while enrolled at their current university. The prevalence of stalking may be hard to ascertain considering the various legal definitions of stalking cross-nationally (Scott et al., 2014). There are several factors that impact the prevalence of stalking, which include relationship to the offender, gender, age of individuals, and sexual orientation.

# Relationship to the Offender

Victim-offender relationship is often a significant predictor of the victim being physically harmed (Fissel, 2019). A misconception is that people are stalked more often by a stranger; however, 66% of women and 44% of men are stalked by previous intimate partners, especially those who have recently separated or divorced (Backes et al., 2020; Baum et al., 2009; Black et al., 2011; Logan & Walker, 2009; Ngo & Paternoster, 2016; Yahya & Khawaja, 2020). Causes for stalking following a breakup may include the individual not accepting the relationship is over and the offender attempting to regain control in the relationship (Messing et al., 2020; Yahya & Khawaja, 2020). Women who experienced abuse in their relationship had a higher risk of stalking victimization (Backes et al., 2020). Stalking after a separation from a former intimate partner was often associated with coercive control and eventually lethal violence (Lynch et al., 2019). Stalking may be considered escalation with the intent to establish control through frequency and severity of contact (Smith et al., 2020). Stalking by former partners posed the greatest risk for physical harm because stalkers were privy to the victim's lifestyle, routines, family, friends, and schedule, providing easier access to victims (Cass & Mallicoat, 2015; Fissel, 2019; Logan et al., 2006; Logan & Walker, 2009; Pathe &

Mullen, 1997; Yahye et al., 2020). Former intimate partner stalking predicted both greater danger and greater distress for the victim (Bennett Cattaneo et al., 2011).

In the United States, intimate partner homicides made up more than 22% of the homicides in 2016 (Ertl et al., 2019). Recent separation and stalking of a former partner are among the most dangerous risk factors for a woman to be killed by an intimate partner (Lynch et al., 2019). Women who separated from an intimate partner, left an intimate partner, or asked their intimate partner to leave are 3 to 4 times more likely to experience homicide (Campbell et al., 2003). Males are 4 times more likely than females to kill their intimate partner (Kivisto, 2015). The Federal Bureau of Investigation (2019) reported that 10% of all homicides were at the hands of an intimate partner in 2018.

Despite these lethality factors, there is limited research on homicides that occur once a relationship is terminated (Rai et al., 2020).

#### Gender

Stalking is often a gender-based crime, where 80% of stalking victims are women stalked by men (Backes et al., 2020; Drebing et al. 2020; Meloy & Falthous, 2011; Ngo & Paternoster, 2016; Rosay et al., 2019; Stermac et al., 2018; Wood & Stichman, 2018). According to the National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey, 20 million women in the United States were victims of stalking behavior (Black et al., 2011). In a study by Myers et al. (2016) of over 900 undergraduate students, researchers found women were far more likely to experience stalking victimization than men. In a study by Drebing et al. (2020) in 2018 of 1,000 men and 1,000 women between the ages of 18 and 25, women were found to be stalked at a much higher rate than men, and former partners

were the main type of offenders. Men also experience stalking but did not typically report it to the police for fear of not being believed (Acquardo Maran et al., 2020).

### Age of Individuals

Stalking is the most common sexual violence behavior experienced by women on college campuses (Banyard et al. 2020; Black et al., 2020; Griner et al., 2020; Myers et al., 2016). Those between the ages of 12 and 24 are at more risk of violent crimes than other age groups (Kinkade et al., 2005). In a study by Myers et al. (2016) of 910 undergraduate students, stalking victimization was the most reported form of violence. Data from 2015 says 6% of women and 3% of men in college are stalked each year (Griner et al., 2020). A study completed by Wood and Stichman (2018) revealed that 20% of college students admitted to being stalked at one point during their college career. Those between the ages of 18 and 24 were more prone to stalking victimization, whether enrolled in college or out (Boehnlein et al., 2020). There are several factors that increase stalking victimization for college females, which included young, unattached individuals congregating in one area, students moving about unsupervised, access to technology, and relationships that go through transitions (Wood & Stichman, 2018). These factors created a cesspool of targets prone to stalking victimization. In a study by Stermac et al. (2018) of 88 women in college who revealed they changed their behaviors while being stalked on a college campus, only 10 said they sought help from support services.

#### Sexual Orientation

When researchers discussed interpersonal violence, sexual orientation was often not considered, and those who studied the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and

questioning (LGBTQ) community said stalking victimization was limited (Chen et al., 2020; Langenderfer-Magruder et al., 2020). Limited research on the LGBTQ community is concerning considering the alarming rate at which this specific population experiences stalking victimization (Langenderfer-Magruder et al., 2020). Previous researchers showed that those who identify as LGBTQ experienced stalking at a higher rate than those who identified as heterosexual (Chen et al., 2020).

In a study by Chen et al. (2020), where there was a review of The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey during 2010 and 2012 survey administration, it was found bisexual women reported a higher rate of stalking victimization rate than heterosexual women by a 15% margin. Chen et al. explained similarly, gay men reported a higher rate of stalking victimization than heterosexual men by margin of close to 6%. In a study of a convenient sample of both heterosexual and those who identified as LGBTQ, it was found those who identified as LGBTQ experienced more intrusive behaviors than those who identified as heterosexual; additionally, those who identified as LGBTQ experienced intrusive behavior on a higher scale, which included threats, abuse, and forced sexual contact (Sheridan, Scott, et al., 2019). The LGBTQ community underreported stalking victimization for fear of police indifference (Waters et al., 2016). LGBTQ victims of crime may face discrimination when interacting with the police, which often dissuaded their decision to contact law enforcement for help (Calton et al., 2016). LGBTQ victims of stalking often suffer in silence.

### **Impact of Stalking**

At a minimum, stalking was described as a disruption to targets' lives (Lippman, 2018). Logan and Walker (2017) coined the phrase *life sabotage* when they described the impact of stalking on victims. Unique to stalking is the fear and/or mental distress one must prove for stalking to be considered a crime. There is a debate as to how much fear a person must experience before concluding whether someone had experienced stalking (Rosay et al., 2019). When perpetrators are persistent or there is evidence of intent, targets experience more alarm, mental distress, and fear (Scott & Sheridan, 2011). The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center (n.d.) said stalking may have serious and long-lasting effects on victims, including lethal violence.

Logan and Walker said targets of stalking may have trouble communicating the impact that stalking had on their lives, which makes it hard for others to understand why they are so afraid even though the impact of stalking interferes with many aspects of victims' lives. In a study described by Yahya and Khawaja (2020) of 100 stalking victims, 94 of them reported lifestyle changes. Stalking victimization was often overlooked even though this type of victimization has been associated with various physical and psychological outcomes (Myers et al., 2016). Whether calls/texts come many times a day or once or twice a week, the fear they invoke may be the same (Woodlock, 2017). Stalking may be a traumatic experience (Drebing et al. 2020). A study by Sheridan and Grant (2007) yielded no difference in medical expenses or psychological trauma between victims physically stalked and those who were stalked online. The prevalence and many costs of stalking, whether psychological, financial, or physical,

make stalking a social and policy issue warranting attention and prevention (Ngo & Paternoster, 2016). The following sections provide psychological, financial, and physical impacts of stalking.

# **Psychological**

Victims described stalking as psychological terrorism because of the hypervigilance the behavior invokes and the feeling of constantly having to alter their lives (Hall, 1998). Victims also described stalking as emotional rape (Mullen, 1997). It is estimated 20% of stalking victims consult a physician and/or psychiatrist because of the mental distress they are under (Yahya & Khawaja, 2020). According to the National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Medicine (2018), there may be enough symptoms to diagnose someone with a psychiatric disorder if there are "multiple and repeated incidents over a period of time" (p. 74), and the harassment is severe enough in intensity and duration. Studies have shown an increased risk of depression, suicidal ideations, and self-blame by those victimized by stalking (Nobles et al., 2018). Other illnesses reported included anxiety and trauma-related illnesses (Yahya & Khawaja, 2020).

Suicidal thoughts, depression, and anxiety are often emotional consequences of stalking (Baum et al., 2009). Suicidal ideations were noted most by victims recently separated or divorced from their stalker (Ngo & Paternoster, 2016). Male and female victims of stalking reported similar types of mental distress, including headaches, weakness, weight change, stomach issues and sleep disorders (Acquardo Maran et al., 2020). Other symptoms included psychological damage, increased anxiety, symptoms of

post-traumatic stress disorder, and changes in everyday habits, such as work schedules, driving routes, and places known to shop (Bailey & Morris, 2018; Eterovic-Sonic et al., 2017). Deterioration of victims' mental health may include jumpiness, having the shakes, panic attacks, hypervigilance, and exaggerated startled responses (Pathe & Mullen, 1997). According to the National Violence Against Women survey data, a representative sample described stalking impacting their health, being susceptible to an increased risk for injury, and increased substance abuse (Stermac et al., 2018). Future research should consider the emotional and psychological toll stalking has on its victims (Hall, 1998).

#### **Financial**

Not only do victims of stalking suffer psychologically, but they also endure financial losses. About a third of victims stalked reported having been impacted financially because of attorney fees, property damage, childcare, and/or moving expenses (Baum et al., 2009). Additional costs include missing work or classes to avoid their stalker, paying for psychological treatment and/or legal services, and possible relocation (Stermac et al., 2018). Having to move one's residence is often an additional expense of stalking victimization (Ngo & Paternoster, 2016). Victims of stalking reported having lost time at work because of safety concerns and/or court appearances (Ngo & Paternoster, 2016). Furthermore, diminished productivity at work may cost victims of stalking their job (Pathe & Mullen, 1997). College students who experience victimization are less committed to staying in school (Banyard et al., 2020). Buying guard dogs may be a financial investment as well. However, some stalking victims gave their dog away for fear of taking them outside and being vulnerable to their stalker. Costly geographical

changes and time are two factors that gave victims of stalking some peace, finally (Pathe & Mullen, 1997).

### **Physical**

Stalking is a lethality factor for homicide. Often, victims of stalking fear bodily harm for themselves, a friend, or a family member (Ngo & Paternoster, 2016). Stalking is linked to sexual assault and is a risk factor for domestic homicide (Matias et al., 2020; Musielak et al., 2020; National Center for Victims of Crime, 2018). De Becker (1997) revealed that 75% of spousal murders happen after the woman leaves. However, regardless of the relationship, stalking is a predictor of homicide (Smith, 2020).

# **Reporting Practices of Victims of Stalking**

Investigations of crimes often start with the police. Victims of intimate partner stalking underreport to formal authorities (Backus et al., 2020). Victims of stalking mostly tell nobody about the behavior they are experiencing (Nobles et al., 2014). If victims do report the behavior, they often confide only in those familiar to them, such as family and friends (Nobles et al., 2018). Barriers to reporting stalking behavior included self-blame, victim blaming by criminal justice professionals, and inadequate supervision of the offender (Backes et al., 2020). Additionally, there is some confusion as to where to report stalking behavior as victim advocates gave the advice of reporting the stalking behavior to the jurisdiction where the victim lives, and police gave the advice of reporting the behavior to the jurisdiction where the stalker lives (Backes et al., 2020). Out of 100 participants of a study completed by Pathe and Mullen (1997), 69 of them turned to the police, and 38 discussed their situation with one or more lawyers. Victims of

& Mullen, 1997). When reporting stalking behavior, victims hoped to be believed, have their feelings validated, and talk to someone who would listen to them while not minimizing their experiences (Boehnlein et al., 2020). When reporting stalking behavior to the police, victims may not use the language "he's stalking me" because of not fully understanding that what is happening to them is a crime (Brady et al., 2020).

There is little research on the help-seeking behaviors of stalking victims (Reyns & Englebrecht, 2014). However, there is a growing area of research focusing on decisions made by victims of crimes (Reynes & Englebrecht, 2014). Stalking victims are a special population with critical information on how the behavior impacts their everyday lives. A qualitative study by Cass and Mallicoat (2015) about reporting practices of stalking victims revealed that victims believed their experiences were not serious enough to report or that the experiences were a private matter. Although stalking is a crime, many victims view consequences to the behavior as inconsequential (Cass & Mallicoat, 2015).

The severity of stalking behavior impacts whether a victim asks for help or contacts the police (Menard & Cox, 2016). Victims may fail to recognize the dangers of stalking behavior (Logan & Walker, 2017). College students report that stalking had to move past calls and texts, even if they were threatening, to physical stalking to warrant intervention by formal authorities (Cass & Mallicoat, 2015). Those who were followed or experienced property damage were more likely to report the behavior to formal authorities (Pathe & Mullen, 1997). In a study by Podana and Imriskova (2016) of 147 stalking victims, almost half of the participants utilized help seeking behaviors to try to

stop or slow down the stalking behavior, 30% tried an avoidance strategy, and almost a quarter ignored the behavior all-together. Additional ways victims manage stalking behavior include a written or verbal notice to the stalker to stop, obtaining a protection order, involving the police, or some other type of formal intervention (Logan & Walker, 2017).

## **Justice System Responses**

& Hayes, 2018). Although stalking poses a great risk to victims, arresting, prosecuting, and convicting stalkers remains relatively low (Brewster, 2001). There is a need for more education about stalking for prosecutors, police, judges, and other criminal justice professionals (Boehnlein et al., 2020). Additionally, there is little research on stalking victims' experiences and the legal system (Brewster, 2001). Although research has grown on stalking victimization, the justice system's response to the behavior has been largely understudied (Brady & Nobles, 2017). Because stalking cases have been challenging for the criminal justice system, often there are low conviction rates for stalking-type cases, yielding frustration for stalking victims (Boehnlein et al., 2020). Because of the risk factors stalking presents, first responders of the criminal justice system should be competent in assessing victims' risk levels (Lynch et al., 2019). It is critical for police officers and victim service professionals to recognize risk factors as they may be the first point of contact a victim of stalking turns to (Lynch et al., 2019).

To improve the holistic response to stalking, there must be a better understanding of justice systems' responses, and victim advocates' beliefs about stalking victimization

(Boehnlein et al., 2020). To reduce further victimization, it is imperative that various agencies (police, criminal courts, and victim services) who manage victims of crime work together to ensure stalking cases are handled effectively (Villacampa & Salat, 2019). Effective responses and interventions by the criminal justice system are not clearly understood (Brady & Hayes, 2018). The following sections discuss current responses of stalking victimization by law enforcement, criminal courts, and protection order courts.

## Law Enforcement

Considering the pattern of behavior of stalking, victims often have multiple interactions with the police (Brady & Nobles, 2017). To increase our understanding of stalking as a crime, we must examine the response process from the time police are alerted of the possible crime to a potential arrest (Brady & Nobles, 2017). Police find stalking a particularly difficult crime to pursue when compared to other crimes (Backes et al., 2020). Specifically, they are used to pursuing single incidents and then moving onto another call; considering that stalking involves a broader course of conduct, police must respond differently (Brady & Nobles, 2017). When investigating stalking as a crime, it is recommended police move from incident-based police work to establishing a course of conduct (Dreke et al., 2020).

There are several barriers the police face when investigating and charging stalking. The definition of stalking, or lack thereof, creates difficulty for policy enforcers to apply laws (Kinkade et al., 2005). In a study performed by Lynch and Logan (2015) of police officers' perception of perceived barriers and their attitudes related to charging stalking, it was revealed 37% of respondents did not have a firm understanding of

stalking. It is believed the impact on the victim is what makes stalking hard to define (Taylor-Dunn et al., 2018). For stalking to be deemed a crime, victims must admit to a level of fear (Reyns & Englebrecht, 2014). Stalking behavior is especially difficult to file formal charges for because of state statutes along with an emotional reaction from the victim of stalking (Nobles et al., 2018). Police described some issues with charging stalking as the inability to collect evidence and the need to rely on victims to be an investigator (Backes et al., 2020; Lynch & Logan, 2015). Lastly, jurisdiction issues pose barriers for charging stalking when the pattern of behavior is strung across many incident locations (Backet et al., 2020; Dreke et al., 2020).

Stalking poses a great risk to victims and may even be lethal. Police deem stranger stalking more alarming than former intimate partner stalking and believe charges are warranted more often when the perpetrator of stalking is not known to the target (Scott & Sheridan, 2011). In England and Wales, the Association of Chief Police Officers piloted a risk assessment tool that debunks the misconception that former intimate partner stalking does not pose as much of a threat as stranger stalking (Scott & Sheridan, 2011). If victims' fear is not accurately communicated, law enforcement may fail to understand the situation (Logan & Walker, 2017). Victims are all too often met with statements from the police such as "you're just overreacting" (Pathe & Mullen, 1997, p. 15). Without the appropriate training and education, police may underestimate the risks, especially regarding former intimate partner dynamics, and fail to respond with urgency (Scott et al., 2014). Interviews with police officers revealed their neglect in recognizing the lethality of intimate partner stalking, citing the issue as a family problem (Klein et al.,

2009). The police have also said stalking is a civil matter (Pathe & Mullen, 1997). In a study by Lynch and Logan (2015) of 100 police officers, less than 30% rated stalking as dangerous behavior. What police are asked to do when investigating stalking cases is to make split-second decisions on what may be described as "a highly complex and poorly understood crime in which they have very little experience" (Brady & Nobles, 2017, p. 3151). Police found it beneficial to collaborate with prosecutors on training, specifically cross communication training, on stalking-related statutes (Dreke et al., 2020). Additionally, what may improve misconceptions of stalking is more training on the lethality of stalking behavior, specifically former intimate partner stalking.

Police may increase their understanding of victims' experiences of stalking by including victims in the investigation process and by educating victims on evidence collection and preservation (Dreke et al., 2020). Unique to stalking behavior is that while the crime is being investigated, more incidents occur. Victims may take screenshots or videos of the behavior in real time. Gathering of witnesses to the behavior is also helpful. Evidence presented to the police may slow the frequency and duration of the behavior.

Police must be willing to take a report of victims' concerns, regardless of charges being filed. Stalking is not always charged as such; there are other related crimes such as telephone harassment, violation of a protection order, assault, domestic violence, criminal trespass, aggravated menacing, and so forth. The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center (n.d.) said law enforcement should charge what is appropriate and build a stalking case from there. Considering the underreporting of stalking behavior, police agencies should do more to encourage stalking victims to come forward (Ngo &

Paternoster, 2016). Once the police file charges for stalking-type behavior, the victim then moves to being a prosecuting witness in misdemeanor or felony court, depending on the type of crime charged. The criminal court has their own policies and procedures for managing stalking victimization.

#### Criminal Court

Although stalking poses a high risk to victims, arrest rates, prosecution, and convictions of stalking behavior are low throughout the United States (Logan & Walker, 2017). Kinkade et al. (2005) said stalking laws place a high level of burden on judges, jurors, and prosecutors to interpret stalking behavior. Prosecution of stalking cases often relies heavily on victim-based evidence collection (Dreke et al., 2020). Stalking victims lack confidence in the criminal justice system (Villacampa & Salat, 2019). Judges admitted a lack of knowledge about intimate partner stalking; inconsistencies between courts created barriers to successfully ruling on stalking-type cases (Backes et al., 2020). Context is key, and this is especially true when jurors and/or judges are left to interpret whether the victim suffered from fear or mental distress. What may be frightening to one person may not be so frightening to another. For example, why receiving a dozen roses at work is terrifying to a stalking victim will need to be parsed out by the prosecutor. The defense in a criminal case may argue showing up at someone's house or workplace is normal courtship behavior (Magyarics et al., 2015). What may be perceived as normal courtship behavior could contextually have an entirely different meaning. If victims do not acknowledge the fear they felt because of the stalking behavior, they may be less protected by the criminal justice system (Podana & Imriskova, 2016). Prosecutors who

have a firm understanding of stalking dynamics, the impact on victims, and statutes related to stalking-type behavior can help victims assert their rights, hold offenders accountable, and ultimately save lives (The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center, n.d.).

There is a recurring theme of pitting stranger stalking and former partner stalking against one another, and this is even true in criminal court. In the criminal justice system, pursuit by a known person may be taken less seriously than stranger stalking because of what may be perceived as innocent courtship (Dunn, 2002). In a vignette study conducted by Scott et al. (2014), researchers found stalkers' prior relationship to their target, if any, impacted the level of danger perceived by jurors. Specifically, targets' danger level was perceived as higher if the parties were strangers (Scott et al., 2014). Scott and Sheridan (2011) said former intimate partner stalkers are more persistent and more dangerous than stranger stalkers, although they are less likely to be convicted of stalking. Interviews with attorneys revealed their neglect in recognizing the lethality of intimate partner stalking, citing the issue as a family problem (Klein et al., 2009). The successful prosecution of a stalking case should include context that informs juries of stalker/victim relationship dynamics, an explanation of victim behavior, and what conditions may enhance victim safety (The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center, n.d.).

### **Protection Order Court**

A protection order is a legal document ruled on in either Domestic Relations

Court or Civil Court, depending on the relationship of the parties. Federal law stated individuals can obtain an order of protection for free (Office on Women's Health, n.d.).

Only 37% of states have stalking-specific protection orders (National Center for Victims of Crime, 2018). If a protection order is granted and served upon the respondent, contact with the petitioner may be a criminal offense. Protection orders provide guidelines and parameters for no contact with petitioners. They outline provisions of how many feet respondents must stay away and what type of contact constitutes a violation. The criminal justice system responds to stalking behavior by telling victims of stalking to obtain a protection order, but this strategy may be deemed a homework assignment given by the police to prove victims are really committed to getting away (De Becker, 1997). If the police, a judge/magistrate, or a prosecutor suggests the strategy to apply for or grant a protection order in the hopes of preventing a homicide, their strategy is too far-off from what the victim needs (De Becker, 1997). Obtaining a protection order is not always an easy process. It often involves several hearings, and the burden is on the petitioner to prove the threshold of needing a protection order which is often imminent danger.

Protection orders may be a tool for the criminal justice system to use as accountability for stalking-type behavior. In a study by Lynch and Logan (2015) of police perceptions of stalking, police admitted they were more likely to charge a violation of protection order even if the elements of stalking are met. What protection orders offer is the ability to increase the chances of police filing charges against stalkers (Backes et al., 2020). Protection orders are cleaner to charge than Menacing by Stalking, a two-pronged charge of a pattern of behavior coupled with mental distress/fear. Thus, one may deem that protection orders serve police and prosecutors rather than the victims themselves (De Becker, 1997). Victims report inconsistent findings about the effectiveness of protection

orders issued by civil courts, citing that some interrupt stalking behavior, some cease the behavior all together, and in some cases, they increase the behavior (Backes et al., 2020). Protection orders may slow down stalking behavior (Logan & Walker, 2017). Violating no-contact orders is a risk factor for intimate partner homicides and is a fact the criminal justice system may consider when prosecuting Violation of Protection Order crimes (Spencer & Stith, 2020). Protection orders and no contact orders work to curb stalking behavior; however, it is suggested along with the issuance of a protection order/no contact order, the criminal justice system must offer stronger prosecution and tougher sentencing outcomes for those found guilty of stalking-type offenses (Brame et al., 2015).

Obtaining a protection order is not an easy process for petitioners, and not all petitioners are treated the same. The LGBTQ community find it harder to obtain a protection order in civil court due to state-specific statutes (Calton et al., 2016). To obtain a protection order in Kansas and Nevada, LGBTQ survivors must show evidence of having once cohabitated with their abuser whereas victims of stalking who identify as straight are not held to the same standard (Calton et al., 2016). It is barriers like these that impact victims' ability to obtain a protection order, a legal document telling respondents to cease contact because their own attempts at getting the stalking offender to leave them alone failed.

# **Response of Victim Services**

Little is known about community advocates' perceptions of stalking victimization (Boehnlein et al., 2020). Victim service professionals may include victim advocates, counselors, crisis line staff, and shelter staff and are essential in the engagement of

victims in stalking-related cases (Lynch & Logan, 2017). Victims of stalking may find comfort in victim service professionals (Lynch & Logan, 2015). The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center (n.d.) said advocates, or other victim support services, may inform victims of their rights and appropriate resources. This support may continue to engage the victim throughout the process. Considering the relentless and persistent contact from stalkers, continued engagement with victim service professionals is key for safety planning purposes and documenting incidents to build a stronger case (The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center, n.d.). Professionals may inform victims of crime about safety planning measures (Murray et al., 2015). Victim engagement with victim service professionals increases their likelihood of safety (The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center, n.d.). The key is to plan for physical and psychological safety (Nichols, 2020). Unique to stalking cases is the continuation of the behavior even as the investigation ensues. Building stalking cases takes time, effort, resources, and knowledge of the behavior (Brady et al., 2020). It was agreed upon by victim service professionals that creating a stalking log is the most important piece of documenting evidence along with the collection of texts, emails, voicemails, letters, and recordings (Boehnlein et al., 2020; Nicholos, 2020).

Victim service professionals may struggle in knowing the difference between advocating for victims of domestic violence and victims of stalking (Dreke et al., 2020). Interviews with victim advocates revealed their neglect in recognizing the lethality of intimate partner stalking, citing the issue as a dispute of shared parenting (Klein et al., 2009). Lynch et al. (2019) said because of the risk factors stalking presents, victim

service professionals should be competent in assessing victims' risk levels. Because victims of stalking do not always label the behavior as such, it may be difficult for victim service professionals to recognize stalking dynamics.

Although there are many helplines and support groups for domestic violence and sexual assault victims, there is little support provided solely for victims of stalking (Dreke et al., 2020). Because of the vastness of relationship violence, victim service professionals must be flexible in the services they provide to the various populations they serve. As mentioned previously, college students experience stalking victimization at a higher rate than other age demographics. Considering the prevalence of stalking on college campuses, school wellness or counseling centers should be well equipped to provide resources and counseling services to those in distress due to stalking-type behaviors (Wood & Stichman, 2018). There should also be an option for students to access services online because of the discomfort the behavior imparts (Wood & Stichman, 2018). Stalking victim advocacy services have spread through cyberspace and in-person groups (Meloy & Felthous, 2011). Victims may be guided by victim service professionals on how to access online services. Victim service professionals may be a liaison between law enforcement, the justice system, and the victim. Cross-training to develop relationships between victim service professionals, law enforcement, and justice system professionals is encouraged (Nichols, 2020).

#### **Summary**

Stalking behavior is challenging for the criminal justice system, victim advocates, and researchers to address (Brady & Nobles, 2017; Dreke et al., 2020). Although

practitioners address relationship violence as it relates to sexual assault and domestic violence, to improve collective responses to stalking, there must be an increased understanding of justice systems' responses and victim service professionals' reaction to stalking behavior (Boehnlein et al., 2020). Researchers have shown a gap in the literature regarding effective responses to stalking-type behaviors and effective ways to engage victims (Backes et al., 2020). Further research on stalking victimization is needed because of misconceptions that affect the decision-making process of victims, police, members of the community, and various legal professionals (Scott et al., 2014). I included in this chapter gaps in the literature, literature search strategies, the theoretical foundation, and why this is a phenomenological study. What I found from the extant literature, I included in the review of the literature, which consisted of the evolution of stalking as a crime, stalking mentality, barriers to understanding the prevalence of stalking, the prevalence of stalking, reporting practices, the justice system response, and the responses of victim services.

Understanding the lived experiences of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals with stalking victimization may increase the effectiveness of safety planning with victims, the accuracy of charging stalking as a crime, addressing the behavior, and providing appropriate and timely advocacy. Additionally, research in this area may inform victims to take suitable precautions to keep themselves safe and/or report the behavior to the police (Scott et al., 2014). Once experiences are understood, focus on perceptions of stalking can debunk misconceptions through education and training (Scott et al., 2014). Prevention and intervention are key to keeping potential

victims safe from stalking behavior (Bailey & Morris, 2018). Targeted training on intimate partner stalking may reduce misinformation and enhance the knowledge and application of stalking statutes (Backes et. al, 2020).

The goal is to increase the identification of stalking-type cases, improve arrest rates, and ultimately maximize charges and penalties against offenders (Backes et al., 2020). Agencies that mandate ongoing training and offer outlined standard operating procedures that encourage victim participation in the criminal justice process may find more success in interrupting stalking behavior (Brady et al., 2020). There are very few recommendations related to the courts in reviewed studies (Backes et al., 2020). It was suggested to have criminal justice agencies and victim service providers collaborate to provide better outcomes for victims of crime (Brame et al., 2015). The current investigation provided valuable information by answering the following questions: What are the lived experiences and perceptions of judges and attorneys within the various levels of the Ohio justice system regarding stalking victimization and what are the lived experiences and perceptions of victim service professionals within various agencies in Ohio regarding stalking victimization? In Chapter 3, the methods of understanding judges', attorneys', and victim service professionals' perceptions of stalking victimization are outlined.

# Chapter 3: Research Method

In Chapter 2, I reviewed the extant literature on the barriers to understanding the concept of stalking behavior; stalking mentality; the prevalence, precipitants, reporting practices, impact, and lethality of stalking; and justice system personnel and victim service responses to stalking victimization. There is an absence of research on effective treatment measures for stalking behavior (Purcell & McEwan, 2018). Those who work in the criminal justice system and victim services hold valuable information on accountability measures for stalkers and tactics to interrupt the behavior. However, researchers have rarely explored the perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking behavior. Often, domestic and sexual violence has been the focus of research even though stalking behavior may be an aftermath of domestic violence and a predictor of sexual assault. The purpose of this study was to explore the perceptions of stalking victimization among judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals in the state of Ohio. In this chapter, I discuss the research design and rationale, research questions, approach, methodology, data collection tools, role of the researcher, and trustworthiness of the research.

# **Research Design and Rationale**

Qualitative research was the most appropriate method of study for exploring the perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization. Specific to qualitative research is an in-depth assessment of a phenomenon and the attention to detail, context, and nuance (Patton, 2015). Additionally, qualitative research allows researchers to explore and understand the meaning individuals or groups

attribute to a social issue through the use of open-ended questions (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Qualitative researchers are concerned with the meaning of the data, not a generalized hypothesis of statements (Mason, 2010). Although much of scientific research involves quantifying, or counting something, and analyzing statistical findings, qualitative research provides the unique opportunity to interview individuals for depth rather than breadth on a particular topic (Rubin & Rubin, 2012).

Qualitative research specific to stalking victimization is needed because of the dearth of research on help-seeking behaviors of victims of stalking (Reyns & Englebrecht, 2014). Scholars have previously noted a gap in research on strategies to aid practitioners working with stalking victims (Bennett Cattaneo et al., 2011). For criminal justice system and victim service professionals to develop appropriate responses to stalking behavior, there must be an understanding of what factors increase individuals' chances for stalking victimization, more appropriate and accurate labeling of the behavior, and increased reporting practices to formal authorities (Menard & Cox, 2015). No researchers to date have studied the perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization. These professionals have an indepth view of stalking victims' help-seeking behaviors. Thus, the intention of this study was to gather how the justice system and victim service professionals perceived stalking so that a more accurate and timely response can be provided to victims.

#### **Research Questions**

To generate descriptive themes that judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals ascribe to stalking victimization, I developed research questions to elicit the

thoughts, feelings, and experiences of said professionals. The participants' individual experiences of stalking victimization were compared to each other to generate in-depth, descriptive, and real experiences of the phenomenon. To determine how participants' epistemological and ontological experiences shaped their perceptions of stalking victimization, I conducted semistructured interviews. To reduce social desirability bias, the interview questions were loosely framed. The central research question was: What is the perception of stalking victimization? The research subquestions were:

- 1. What are the lived experiences and perceptions of judges and attorneys within the various levels of the Ohio justice system regarding stalking victimization?
- 2. What are the lived experiences and perceptions of victim service professionals within various agencies in Ohio regarding stalking victimization?

## A Phenomenological Approach

In this study, I employed a qualitative, phenomenological approach that was grounded in philosophy and psychology. Use of this approach allowed me to assess the participants' lived experiences specific to stalking victimization. Phenomenology culminates at the essence of experiences shared by individuals who experienced the same phenomenon (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Phenomenology is a theoretic lens that may be used to capture the way participants perceive, describe, feel, judge, remember, make sense of, and talk about the same experience (Patton, 2015). Phenomenology was the most appropriate method of inquiry in this study because of the ability to collect information from individuals who share a common experience (see Laverty, 2000).

In this study, I specifically used the interpretive phenomenological design, which is employed to understand human experiences (see Perry, 2013). To understand the nature or meaning of the shared phenomenon under study, I conducted interviews and continued until saturation was met, or no new data were collected in the investigation (see Mason, 2010; Patton, 2015). Researchers generally use saturation as a guided principle in their sample size (Mason, 2010). For phenomenological studies, it is suggested 5 to 25 interviews be conducted (Creswell, 1998). Once the interviews were complete and data analysis was done, it became clearer how judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals perceived stalking. Understanding how these professionals conceptualized stalking victimization was pertinent in identifying frameworks for explaining the phenomenon, formulating responses to the behavior, implementing potential effective and timely treatment of stalking behavior, and developing interruption strategies to limit or eradicate stalking.

# Methodology

I chose the participants based on similar characteristics or traits and whether they experienced the same phenomenon, otherwise known as a homogenous purposeful sample (see Patton, 2015). Additionally, participants' experiences, exposure, values, and understanding of stalking victimization were considered. Furthermore, I used criterion sampling to ensure participants had knowledge of stalking victimization. To recruit participants, I used snowball sampling as participants were encouraged to refer colleagues who fit the inclusion criteria, which were the following:

- Earned a law degree from an accredited university; passed the bar exam
  mandated by the American Bar Association to practice law; and had
  experience in litigating criminal, domestic, and/or civil hearings where
  stalking-type behaviors are present in the fact finding.
- Worked in an advocate role or social work position and had clients who experienced stalking-type behavior.

I recruited potential research participants via email and in-person inquiry using snowball sampling from a prosecutor office, a court of common pleas, the Ohio Supreme Court, a legal aid society, a university's legal services office, the Attorney General's Office, a domestic violence shelter, a child advocacy center, and an agency specific to immigrants. An email was sent to a list server of advocates, otherwise known as the Advocate Coalition, calling for research participants. If prospective research participants were interested in partaking in the study, I instructed them to send me an email proclaiming their interest to participate. Once candidates expressed interest in participating in the study, they received an attachment in their email, which included an Informed Consent and Disclosure Statement with instructions on how and when to return their response. The Informed Consent included the approval number for the study, 11-09-21-0980960. My contact information was provided in the event they needed to contact me with questions or for clarification purposes. The ability to send an email through a list server saved time by reaching a lot of people at once. As potential candidates became official research participants, I used snowball sampling to recruit additional candidates for review and acceptance into the study.

There is no set minimum of participants in qualitative research (APA, 2020). One interview is never enough because at least two interviews must be examined (Boddy, 2016). Conversely, a sample size that is too large does not allow for a rich, descriptive analysis (Sandelowski, 1995). A large sample size in qualitative research does not necessarily yield more information (Mason, 2010). Boddy (2016) proclaimed 30 participants as too large of a number for analysis. Researchers have suggested interviewing 10 participants for a homogenous sample (Sandelowski, 1995). In a study of researchers who used phenomenology as their research approach, Mason (2010) found the average number of interviews conducted was 20. Because of the range provided by previous researchers, I interviewed 15 to 24 participants for this study until data saturation was met. Saturation is the process of analyzing patterns and adding samples until no new information is learned (Patton, 2015). Data saturation allows for generalization, begins to be apparent after six in-depth interviews, and is most assuredly evident by 12 in-depth interviews (Boddy, 2016). Most importantly, as much as possible, the sample size should be a representative sample of the population (Bock & Sergeant, 2002).

### **Data Collection**

Qualitative research includes the evaluation and assessment of emerging themes through asking the participants open-ended interview questions that the responses are then categorized into themes and patterns (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). I used multiple methods of data collection in this study. The inclusion criteria were the participants had to have a law degree and had worked with perpetrators or victims of stalking.

Additionally, victim advocates from various agencies who had also worked with victims of stalking were considered. Data were collected through one-on-one interviews with participants who gave rich descriptions of their experiences and perceptions. In the following subsections, I detail the methods used to explore the emergent categories from participants' interview responses.

## **Data Collection Assumptions**

One data collection assumption I made was that the research questions would generate rich, robust, descriptive data on the participants' perceptions of stalking victimization within the context of the criminal justice system and victim services. The goal of qualitative researchers is to extract the meaning, experiences, motives, and opinions of participants and to see the world from other perspectives rather than their own (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Open-ended questions were used to encourage participants to describe their feelings and perceptions of stalking victimization and how their perceptions impact their professional response regarding stalking-type behavior.

Gathering how judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals thought and felt about stalking victimization provided me with data to develop and identify theories that explained and provided a framework for responding to stalking victimization.

Another data collection assumption was that I would have my own experience in this process and that experience may impact the way I interpreted data. As a researcher, I tried to minimize my assumptions but recognizing I had some was the first step.

Recognizing my own assumptions increased the trustworthiness of the data. Researchers need to be clear in the way they strive to check for assumptions to uncover the unknown;

one suggestion to manage researchers' assumptions is to not set aside a particular time to "do" analysis but rather have the process be fluid (Engward & Goldspink, 2020).

Having enough participants to interview so the study results were trustworthy was another data collection assumption. The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the ability for people to live and work in a normal setting. Because of the pandemic, some participants were limited in their ability to participate in the study. Therefore, I offered accommodations, such as telephone and Zoom interviews, in lieu of face-to-face interviews. Barriers to interviewing when using technology were taken into consideration. Internet interviews, when compared to face-to-face interviews, are much slower (Rubn & Rubin, 2012). For this reasons, face-to-face interviews were preferred over all other modes of interviewing. However, with the potential for COVID-19 hotspots, face-to-face interviewing was not always an option and interviews were conducted through other modes as well. It was my goal to interview people as their schedule allowed it, so I conducted several interviews a week until saturation was met.

### **Preliminary Meeting**

I notified participants by email of their selection for the study. Notification of scheduled interviews were sent electronically with a date, time, and venue (as needed). I held a premeeting with each participant, either in person, via email, or over the phone, to build rapport, establish trust, review the informed consent procedure, and educate them on their rights as participants and the potential risks of participating in the study.

Demographic information, such as gender, age, years of professional experience, and the setting in which the professional worked with victims of stalking, was collected. To

increase the trustworthiness of the data, I developed a protocol so each participant was asked the same questions. Interviews were held in person, by Zoom, or by telephone and in a safe, private environment of participants' choosing. Participants were notified the interviews would be recorded and reviewed later.

### The Interview Protocol

Rapport building was used at the beginning of the interview to set the participant at ease. I reminded participants the interview would be recorded and reviewed later and that they may stop the interview at any time for any reason. During the interviews, I listened to and recorded the responses of participants, taking descriptive and reflective notes. There was a debriefing time at the conclusion of the interview that allowed participants to decompress and ask any questions.

## **Data Analysis**

Participants' initials were used and coded with a unique number only known to the researcher. Following the interviews, the data were transcribed into a Word document. Extraneous words were omitted. Robust, rich, and descriptive experiences by the participants were structured and organized to make sense. Data were coded into categories by labeling the categories with a term (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Repetitive words were coded into themes. Themes provided an understanding of the values, attitudes, and beliefs of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals. Codes were then linked to larger, more meaningful data. NVivo, a data analysis software that imports data, analyzes it, and helps draw clear conclusions, was used as a tool to assess themes. A small number of themes or categories should be generated, around 5 to 7 per research

study (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The accuracy of the findings was checked to ensure validity (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). In the event of a discrepant case, I still included such perceptions as they were the experience of the participant(s), but the major analysis was of the themes of the majority of cases.

Reliability and validity of scientific research dates to the 1950s and 1960s; attempts to apply traditional notions of reliability and validity to qualitative research proved challenging (Huttenen & Kakkor, 2020). Qualitative data are often subjective, but participant observation will provide the opportunity to gain intimate knowledge of stalking victimization reducing validity error (Guest et al., 2013). One validity strategy is member checking where the researcher reports major findings from the study to the participants and has them determine whether the findings are accurate (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Considering I have professionally experienced advocating for victims of stalking, I can proceed with confidence knowing I have a firm understanding of the data being collected (Guest et al., 2013). To ensure the data analyzed aligns with participants' perceptions, member checking was utilized.

Member checking is used to elicit feedback and review findings for accuracy.

Participants were asked to validate their experience of stalking victimization to ensure that what has been extracted is correct. Furthermore, participants were asked if the themes accurately depict their lived experiences of stalking victimization in their professional setting. Interviews continued until saturation was met, or themes repeated themselves. Additionally, persistent observation was utilized to examine characteristic of

the data through analysis, recheck findings, and revise, as necessary (Korstjens & Moser, 2018).

### Role of the Researcher

My goal in this study was to play a neutral role as a researcher; however, my voice would inevitably be included in the research as my own experience takes up space in the interpretive work that was done (Engward & Goldspink, 2020). Participants knew my research goals. I was an observer and focused on the role of the researcher as I took notes during the interview. Participant observation is often associated with qualitative research, where "why" questions are asked (Guest et al, 2013). Thus, open-ended questions were asked to elicit descriptive details of participants' experiences. Open-ended questions allowed participants to respond any way they chose, elaborate on their responses, and disagree with questions (Rubin & Rubin, 2012).

Because of my past professional experience in advocating for victims of stalking in a court setting, it was possible I may know professionals in the field. However, I did not interview anyone I knew personally. Existing relationships may increase trust and facilitate disclosure by the participant, but having a professional relationship with a participant may also be a conflict of interest (APA, 2020). Knowing participants may be a relationship risk. Being embedded within the criminal justice system and having been an advocate for victims of stalking myself provides the unique opportunity to know what questions are relevant to ask when interviewing (Guest et al, 2013). Biases were clarified through self-reflection, otherwise known as reflexivity (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). The

interpretation of findings was examined and also how my background may have influenced the findings.

### **Issues of Trustworthiness**

No matter the research strategy that is used, credibility of the study is necessary (Patton, 2015). The term trustworthiness came about when trying to ascribe reliability and validity to qualitative research (Huttenen & Kakkor, 2020). Trustworthiness includes reflexivity, or an awareness of how the researcher influences the research process (Engward & Goldspink, 2020). Reflexivity is a process and should be fully integrated into the research steps when analyzing data (Engward & Goldspink, 2020). The data were not manipulated to arrive at a predisposed proposition of what one may think should be the outcome (Patton, 2015). To ensure credibility, or truth value, several strategies are available, but not all are suitable for specific studies (Korstjens & Moser, 2018). Specifically, dependability established whether the study was consistent and repeatable. Member checking was used to review findings for accuracy. Transferability came about once thick, rich, and robust themes emerged from the study. Themes relayed how well the study could be applied, or the degree to which it could reach beyond the bounds of the study. The goal was for this study to be applicable to similar situations or individuals. To increase trustworthiness in the study, the ethics of research were considered.

### **Ethical Procedures**

Psychologists have operated under a code of ethics since the 1950s (Hailes et al., 2021). Throughout the research process for this study, ethical principles were considered. The three principles of research are ensuring the findings are accurate, protecting the

rights and welfare of the participants, and protecting intellectual property rights (APA, 2020). To ensure confidentiality, participants were interviewed individually. Furthermore, to ensure accuracy, data were transcribed word for word, and major themes of the study were sent to participants for member checking. Participants were offered a summary of the final study. Qualitative research presents a unique ethical issue in protecting participants' identity because they are sharing stories unique to themselves. Such stories may compromise their identity, and it is possible data may need to be withheld to protect the identity of the research participants (APA, 2020). Researchers are bound by the anonymity of research participants when recording, archiving, and then reporting data (Dragga & Voss, 2020). Participants were informed in the Consent Form that they were not judged for their participation in the study or lack thereof. Although I may work at an office where some participants were recruited, I did not recruit people I knew, or had a professional or personal relationship with. Participants had the opportunity to stop the interview at any time for any reason. Protecting intellectual property rights ensures those who made a significant scientific contribution to a study are recognized as an author (APA, 2020). Because I am the only researcher in this study, protecting intellectual property rights was a nonissue.

# **Summary**

The objective of Chapter 3 was to describe the procedures that were used to elicit the meaning that judges, attorney, and victim service professionals ascribed to stalking victimization. This section included the research design and rationale, research questions, methodology, approach, data collection measures and analysis, and trustworthiness

necessary to replicate the study. A phenomenological, qualitative study was chosen because it is the best design to describe the lived experiences of the participants. A purposeful sample followed by snowball sampling was used to recruit participants. Data collection continued until saturation was met. Member checking was used to review accuracy of the data analyzed.

The results of the data collected will be presented in Chapter 4. The most popular approach to qualitative research, otherwise known as a narrative description of themes, will also be discussed in Chapter 4 (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). Implications such as emerging research questions, theoretical insights, and new understandings will be revealed in Chapter 5 (APA, 2020). Additionally, Chapter 5 will include future research recommendations.

## Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this phenomenological investigation was to explore the lived experiences and perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization. Previous researchers had not addressed such perceptions. To fill this gap in the literature, I interviewed judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals who worked with perpetrators and/or victims of stalking in their current or past profession. Chapter 4 includes a description of the settings in which the interviews took place and a demographic representation of the research participants. The data collection and analysis processes of the interviews, evidence of trustworthiness, and the results of the study are also discussed in this chapter. The research questions that guided the study were:

- 1. What are the lived experiences and perceptions of judges and attorneys within the various levels of the Ohio justice system regarding stalking victimization?
- 2. What are the lived experiences and perceptions of victim service professionals within various agencies in Ohio regarding stalking victimization?

# Setting

After receiving Walden University Institutional Review Board approval, I began snowball sampling by asking colleagues to recommend other colleagues who fit the inclusion criteria of the study. Once I had a list of potential participants, I sent an invitation email. I also sent an invitation email to a list server of advocates. Follow-up phone calls were made and follow-up emails were sent to clarify any questions potential participants had about the study. Once a prospective participant showed interest in the

study, I sent them an invitation email asking for their consent to participate in the study. Six participants sent emails saying they consented to the study but never followed up with a date and time to be interviewed. One advocate declined to take part in the study because she did not think she had enough experience working with victims of stalking. A couple of interviews had to be rescheduled because of conflicts that arose with the participants' schedules. The interviews were semi structured and took place in person, on Zoom, and by telephone. Two interviews started over Zoom but had to be converted to telephone interviews because of a bad service connection. Overall, I interviewed six judges, six attorneys, and eight victim service professionals. The interviews provided the participants' descriptive experiences of stalking victimization.

Although the goal was to interview as many participants as possible face-to-face, only six occurred in-person. The COVID-19 pandemic impacted some interviews being held face-to-face because more people were working at home than ever before. My next preferred mode of interviewing was Zoom so that I would have video access to the participants and the ability to read their social and facial cues. Eleven interviews were conducted via Zoom. When face-to-face and Zoom were not an option, telephone interviews were offered. I conducted three interviews by phone. All participants were assured their participation would be kept confidential and the only thing that would be noted in the study would be their demographic information and profession.

### **Demographics**

By the time snowball sampling was complete and saturation had been met, I interviewed six judges, six attorneys, and eight victim service personnel. Tables 1–5

represent the results of the demographic questions (see Appendix A) that were asked of each participant.

**Table 1**Participants' Sex

	Judge	Attorney	Victim Service Professional
Male	2	3	
Female	4	3	7
Nonbinary			1

Table 2

Participants' Races

	Judge	Attorney	Victim Service Professional
White	4	6	7
African American	2		
Other			1

**Table 3**Participants' Ages

	Judge	Attorney	Victim Service Professional
Range of years	53 to 74 years	35 to 62 years	26 to 54 years
Average of years	58 years	43 years	40 years

**Table 4**Participants' Average Years Working in Their Profession

	Judge	Attorney	Victim Service Professional
Range of years	3 to 18 years	11 to 25 years	5 to 24 years
Average of years	9 years	15 years	13 years

**Table 5**Participants Who Had Training on Stalking

	Judge	Attorney	Victim Service Professional
Yes	1	5	8
No	5	1	

### **Data Collection**

Upon receiving Walden University Institutional Review Board approval, I began snowball sampling by asking in-person colleagues who were attorneys to refer someone who met the inclusion criteria. Criterion sampling was used to ensure all participants had experience working with stalking perpetrators or victims in their current or past employment. Overall, 10 attorneys were referred to me, eight consented to the study, and six ended up participating. To recruit advocates, I sent an invitation email via a list serve to an advocate coalition. I contacted colleagues who were victim service professionals via email and in person and asked them to refer potential participants who met the inclusion criteria. The director of a local domestic violence shelter was also contacted through an invitation email to inquire about potential participants. Additionally, I sent invitation emails to supervisors of a child advocacy center and an organization that works with immigrants. Overall, 11 advocates consented to the study and eight advocates participated. To recruit judges, I asked in-person colleagues in the justice system to refer potential participants who met the inclusion criteria. Judges were more difficult to recruit. Once I interviewed one judge, I asked them to refer another colleague. Overall, seven judges consented to the study and six judges participated.

The goal of the study was to interview 15 to 24 participants or until saturation was met. The final sample of the study included 20 participants: six judges, six attorneys, and eight victim service professionals. Three judges worked in municipal court, and three judges worked in domestic relations court. I interviewed three defense attorneys and three prosecutors who worked in various platforms, including municipal court (one), common

pleas court (one), domestic relations court (one), the Ohio Attorney General's Office (one), and private practice (two). Victim service professionals ranged from legal advocates (two), community advocates (three), advocates in a college level setting (two), and an advocate who worked with immigrants/refugees.

Interviews were conducted between November 12, 2021 and December 13, 2021. Because of the COVID-19 pandemic, I offered telephone and Zoom interviews if inperson interviewing was unavailable. Interview days and times were selected by participants to increase participation and ensure their availability. I briefed each participant at the beginning of each interview that our conversation would be recorded. All participants agreed to be audio recorded for transcription purposes. At the conclusion of each interview, I asked each participant if they consented to me potentially quoting them anonymously in the study and editing their statements for grammatical purposes. All the participants agreed. The audio of the interviews was recorded on an Olympus VN-541PC recorder. Interviews were between 9 and 39 minutes long with an average time of 21 minutes.

Following the demographic questions, I asked each participant the interview questions (see Appendix B). To ensure clarification, as needed, follow-up questions were also asked. After the completion of interviews, I created transcriptions from the audio recordings and my notes. The initials of each participant were noted at the top of the interview notes along with the date, time, and the mode of the interview. Each transcript number corresponded with the number on the recorder. For example, Interview 1 on the recorder corresponded with the initials and Interview 1 on the written notes. Interview 2

on the recorder corresponded to the initials and Interview 2 on the written notes, and so on. I told each participant at the beginning of their interview that they would receive a copy of their transcript. Once transcripts were completed, I emailed them to each participant. I gave each participant 1 week to respond if they had any issues with the transcripts. The only issues noted by participants was their overuse of the word *um* and typos.

The data collection methods outlined in Chapter 3 were followed. A couple of incidents arose when interviewing participants. On two occasions, a Zoom interview was scheduled, but due to connectivity issues, had to take place over the phone. Both participants were gracious in this process. The other issue was when I was interviewing a judge, we were interrupted by his secretary to sign some documents. After being interrupted, he encouraged me to continue, and we were able to finish the interview without incident.

## **Data Analysis**

To begin the coding process, I reviewed transcripts based on the participants' job classifications (i.e., judge, attorney, and victim service professional) to determine if there were any common terms or ideas the participants shared within their specific job classification. Once I reviewed the transcripts, it was determined that all three job classifications shared common terms and ideas among participants. Upon initial review of the transcripts for coding, I consolidated the interview data into four groups: interviews of judges, interviews of attorneys, interviews of victim service professionals, and all interviews together.

The consolidated data were the input into NVivo, a data analysis software program. The categories of risk factors, stereotypes, treatment, accountability, support, and improving systems were identified in all 20 interviews (see Table 6).

**Table 6**Categories and Themes

Categories	Risk Factors	Stereotypes	Treatment	Accountability	Support	Improving Systems
Theme 1	Stranger stalking	Making it up	Therapy	GPS monitor	Advocacy	Training
Theme 2	Intimate partner stalking	Crazy	Limited	Wraparound services	Wraparound services	Use resources
Theme 3	Cyber- stalking	Bringing the stalking on themselves		COVID-19	COVID-19	

### **Evidence of Trustworthiness**

Huttenen and Kakkor (2020) explained that trustworthiness came about when trying to ascribe reliability and validity to qualitative research. Trustworthiness includes an awareness of how the researcher influences the research process, otherwise known as reflexivity (Engward & Goldspink, 2020). Reflexivity is a process and should be fully integrated into the research steps when analyzing data (Engward & Goldspink, 2020). Having worked in the field of criminal justice for the past 7 years and as an advocate of victims of stalking myself, I had to be careful not to integrate my feelings or experiences into the interviews. I found myself agreeing out loud with participants when I empathized with something they said. I noticed this right away and then made a cognizant effort to be

as neutral as possible by actively listening while not persuading participants one way or another. Patton (2015) said that neutrality is not easily attainable by a researcher but can be if the researcher is aware of and deals with selective perception and personal biases. The evidence of trustworthiness is outlined in the following subsections on credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability.

# Credibility

Patton (2015) described credibility of any study as necessary; researchers should adopt a stance of openness and fully document methods of inquiry along with implications for findings Participants were selected through criterion sampling, ensuring each person had experience working with perpetrators and/or victims of stalking. The criterion sampling, inclusion criteria, and the interview questions in this study may be replicated for future studies. Transcripts were created and compared with notes written during the interviews. Such methods show I did not set out to prove a perspective or manipulate data to arrive at a predisposed proposition.

# **Transferability**

The transferability steps outlined in Chapter 3 were followed without any adjustments. Participant recruitment steps, the setting in which the research took place, and results allowed for transferability to future studies. Appendix A and B includes the demographic and interview questions. Transferability was allowed once thick, rich, and robust categories and themes emerged from the study.

# **Dependability**

Dependability establishes whether a study is consistent and repeatable. No adjustments were made to the dependability strategies described in Chapter 3. Audit trails were created through data collection, data analysis, and notes. A transcription review was done by all participants. A summary of results was sent to each participant via email. Member checking was used to review findings for accuracy. To increase dependability, Patton (2015) said the processes should be logical, traceable, and documented. Similar to transferability, dependability was established once in-depth information was obtained through the interviews.

# **Confirmability**

Confirmability was established by using audit trails as described in Chapter 3. I did not make up the interpretations of the study. I followed what Patton (2015) described as linking assertions and finding interpretations. In combination, trustworthiness of this study was established through credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability.

### **Results**

As displayed in Table 6, the categories came about through the rich, descriptive, and robust interviews of each participant. These themes were mentioned by the participants although their wording was slightly different depending on their job classification. The following describes in more detail the participants' perception of each theme as it relates to stalking victimization.

#### Risk Factors

Participants were asked how stalking behavior posed a risk to victims. A judge stated, "A lot of them feel helpless. I've had women tell me they know they're going to end up dead." Both a judge and advocate noted that stalkers pose a risk and there is absolute danger in all types of stalking. Stranger stalking was one theme under the category of risk factors. Mental illness coupled with stranger stalking was noted the most by participants. An advocate explained that someone with mental illness and stalking tendencies can be scary. One judge proclaimed, "Those who pursue strangers pose the most risk to victims because they are less easily identified." One attorney admitted stranger stalkers are some of the most troubled people they had ever met. Participants noted stranger stalking is a lot harder to predict and may become deadly for the victim. One attorney discussed a specific instance:

I had a client with erotomania. It's a clinical diagnosis where a person believes a stranger engaged them and that little idiosyncratic things someone would say or do were messages to them. And, so, my client was very, very sick. This woman worked at a Blockbuster Video and my client was the patron. She was kind to him. I think she may have even apologized for something Blockbuster did and gave him a free movie. That kicked off years of this man following her. I think, to her because there was no context, it was terrifying for her.

Intimate partner stalking was the second theme under the category of risk factors.

One judge noted former intimate partners pose a higher threat because they know more about the victim including their schedules, driving routes, where they work, and their

social media passwords. An advocate relayed that intimate partner stalkers pose the most risk just because they have nothing to lose. Another advocate pointed out once someone leaves a relationship, the power dynamics escalate and then stalking ensues. A judge stated, "The most dangerous is the one where there was or is an emotional connection." An attorney explained that former intimate partners pose the most risk to victims because things tend to escalate, there is more of a chance for hands on violence, and the stalking may be more deadly.

Cyberstalking was the third theme under the category of risk factors. A judge relayed "Cyberstalking is just as invasive and it's traumatizing because stalkers use a platform to bully, stalk, and torture." Another judge noted, "Cyberstalking could be worse because you don't know when it's coming. It's happening but you can't take a breath and think about when it's happening." An advocate agreed that cyberstalking is a huge risk for survivors. Lastly, an attorney relayed, "The fear is more perpetual and more real because they know, just like big brother, they know exactly where you are, so you feel like you are never alone, you are never free from them."

# **Stereotypes**

Making up the behavior was one theme under stereotypes of victims. Specifically, one attorney stated the court may view the behavior as "not that bad." Other words used to describe a victim of stalking included exaggerating the behavior and being oversensitive. Another attorney stated the following:

I think a lot of negative stereotypes are that they are over exaggerating and viewing the behavior as not that bad. Why would you be upset that someone sent

you flowers? A lot of people don't realize how daunting and how scary that can be for someone that's been stalked by someone. I think a lot of times there's just this negative connotation that they aren't harming you because it is just gifts, or it is just messaging you a bunch. But it is harmful. It can be very mentally harming to a survivor.

Three judges specifically indicated that a negative stereotype of victims is that they are making up the behavior for an ulterior motive. One judge mentioned the behavior being made up to make the victim look better in a divorce or custody case.

Another judge stated similarly that victims make up the behavior to improve their chances with child custody and/or finances. A third judge stated:

There are times perpetrators indicate that an order is being used as a sword instead of a shield. Victims are getting a protection order and then sort of inviting the alleged perpetrator to violate the order and then using that violation against them.

The second theme under negative stereotypes of victims is that the victim is crazy. Several participants across job classifications (judge, attorney, and victim service professional) listed the negative stereotypes of victims being crazy, histrionic, and/or paranoid. One attorney stated:

When you add gas lighting for what is often an extended period of time, even the way that a "normal person" who may have been very calm when this first started, can be very triggered. When someone is being triggered and reacting to the behavior, it feeds into or can be twisted into this idea of dramatics, which it's not.

To be clear, gas lighting is a type of psychological abuse utilized by abusers to confuse and distort reality, which makes victims of abuse feel crazy (Sweet, 2019). Gas lighting undermines victims' experiences feeds into the notion of them not being psychologically sound and further exacerbates the idea that a victim of stalking is making up or exaggerating the behavior.

A third theme under stereotypes was victims of stalking bringing the behavior on themselves. Historically, women have been scrutinized for putting themselves in harm's way. It was stated by multiple participants that the victim did not make it clear enough the relationship was over, they encouraged the stalker to stalk them, they had a role in being stalked, or they were accountable for the stalking behavior. One attorney noted, "One of the negative stereotypes is that they gain attention to be stalked whether that is how they act, that they give the person too much attention, or that they lead them on." A victim service professional added, "Often, the victim is blamed for why they are stalked and why they don't take additional efforts to prevent the stalking." Lastly, a judge proclaimed:

Victims of stalking deal with a type of negative stereotypes that all victims deal with; that somehow, they are accountable for the behavior. It's just like wearing a mini skirt and being a victim of rape; that you somehow asked for it.

### **Treatment**

Therapy was one theme under treatment. It was suggested by several participants over all three job classifications (judge, attorney, and victim service professional) that therapy may be helpful as a type of treatment for offenders. One attorney noted that

treatment for an abuser has evolved over time: "Way back even in the domestic violence world, even if we suggested to help the abuser, it was like, get out of the room." Another attorney noted, "Cognitive behavioral therapy is helpful for trying to reframe the issues and stay out of those thought traps they are in. It may be offered as an outpatient treatment or mandated through the probation department." Another attorney added, "I think it's more like a personality disorder or personality trait that makes them ignore things that other people would acknowledge. Counseling definitely seems like it could be helpful." However, one advocate stated plainly, "I have not seen any treatment that is effective long term."

Therapy was also suggested as a treatment option for victims of stalking. It was suggested that therapy be specialized. One advocated noted, "It needs to be a counselor who understands domestic violence stalking victimization." Another advocated added, "A victim of stalking must have service providers that are trained in knowing stalking and can help them with safety and resources." "I would guess that psychology or psychiatry would be the best to help them deal with the behavior as with any trauma victim," stated one judge. Although therapy was suggested by several participants, it was noted that therapy may not be available or specialized enough for either offenders or victims of stalking.

The second theme under treatment was limited. Specific to offenders, participants noted that many stalking offenders were lumped in with domestic violence offenders when seeking treatment. One advocate stated, "I know there is a domestic violence assessment, but I don't find that to be effective." "There is more of a focus on the

traditional domestic violence assessment, so stalkers don't learn how to remove themselves from a toxic relationship," added one attorney. Two advocates mentioned domestic violence counseling or anger management, but nothing related to stalking. A judge admitted:

I know that we have domestic violence treatment, and it seems we try to push people into that, but stalking is a step beyond domestic violence because domestic violence is one of the crimes that you look at to come up with a stalking charge.

So, I am embarrassed to say I don't know about stalking treatment. Sorry. It was surprising how many participants noted there was no treatment for stalking behavior, or at least they did not know of any. One judge said, "good question" when I asked what treatment was available for stalking offenders. Another judge said, "I'm sure there are some. I don't know what they are. I am really embarrassed about it and would like to know." Another judge added, "I honestly don't know what's available for perpetrators of stalking."

Similar to limited treatment options for perpetrators of stalking, participants noted a lack of treatment options specific to stalking victims as well. One attorney noted, "They have a lot of the same resources as domestic violence victims." What happens when the offender is not a previous intimate partner? Then, domestic violence resources are not appropriate or available. One advocated stated, "Besides a general counseling or a trauma counseling, I can't think of a specific stalking related resource, it would just be general counseling or trauma counseling." Another advocate added victims of stalking may be

offered mental health counseling or a domestic violence shelter but nothing specific to stalking victimization.

The COVID-19 pandemic has also limited resources for treatment. One attorney noted that the COVID-19 pandemic exacerbated interpersonal violence, menacing by stalking, and mental illness. It was suggested by all three job classifications (judge, attorney, and victim service professional) that the COVID-19 pandemic impacted the ability for offenders and victims of stalking to have treatment options available to them, especially in-person. One defense attorney explained:

When I've sent people who I am representing to go get a counselor, it's taking them months to get an appointment, so I think mental health services are lower and I'd imagine it must be harder if you're a stalker trying to cope with what's around you. I think there's less access to resources that could help mitigate stalkers' actions.

# **Accountability**

Judges and attorneys were asked about specific measures to hold stalking offenders accountable. Additionally, as the interviews progressed, victim service professionals also mentioned types of accountability measures for stalking offenders.

Table 7 lists the measures that were asked of participants, and each X represents one judge or attorney who mentioned that specific type of accountability measure.

Participants were offered the opportunity to pick more than one measure. Attorneys were divided between defense and prosecution to parse out differences in opinions, if any.

Table 7

Accountability Measures

	Judge	Defense Attorney	Prosecutor
Prison time	XX	X	XX
Pre-trial services/diversion program	XXX	X	X
Protection order	XXXXX	X	XXX
Probation/parole	XXX	X	
Treatment	XXXX	X	XX
Other strategy		XX	

A GPS monitor was one theme under the category of accountability. All six attorneys mentioned the GPS monitor as an accountability measure either as part of pretrial services/diversion program, probation/parole, or as another strategy. Several judges and victim service professionals also mentioned GPS as an accountability measure. One advocate noted:

From what I've seen, a GPS monitor on a perpetrator is beneficial because it makes them follow the protection order for the stalking. A lot of times, they think a protection order is a piece of paper and no one is going to know if it's violated. Perpetrators believe survivors are not going to come forward and alert the justice system. I think having something that tracks their moves is beneficial.

"A threat to them is what I've seen modify the behavior," explained one attorney.

Another attorney noted that making the stalker feel watched or monitored is an effective accountability measure:

I think that funding an ankle monitor is a really, really good one. I think you can immediately say, I have this one guy tagged like a wild animal and we know where he's at all the time. People are embarrassed it's on. It can be seen by other people. And they want it off; they are motivated to take it off. They know now that they are being watched 24 hours a day. So, it probably could give some insight of what being stalked feels like.

A judged stated, "GPS is effective because I've had probation officers call me over the weekend if someone violated it. So, we know when they are near somebody, and we can do something about it." One attorney relayed that even though GPS is not 'real time,' it can at least reduce gas lighting by confirming an offender is where the victim reports they are. One judge noted, "I don't want to sound morbid, but GPS is great for when I get the murder charge; then I'll be able to show he/she was there."

Wraparound services was the second theme under accountability for offenders. Several participants mentioned a combination of measures to hold stalking offenders accountable. Rarely did a participant mention only one measure. One attorney said, "Counseling through probation would be the combination I'd go with." Another attorney added, "When you're using a combination of GPS monitoring, protection order, and incapacitation, it can improve stalker accountability." One judge simply stated, "All of

them" when asked which measures hold stalking offenders accountable. A different judge added more detail:

I'm going to cheat and say all of them. I don't think you can change the behavior by doing anyone of those things. If you have a stalker, you have a narcissist who knows how to manipulate the system. You have to knock them off their game. In order to do that, you have to do all these measures. Pre-trial services need to be holding them accountable and make sure they are not justifying their behavior. Trial prosecution and probation needs to utilize bond and probation violations. All the things that you listed need to find some way to work together for the stalking behavior to change.

## Another judge added:

The courts, stakeholders, and service providers need to coordinate their efforts to hold stalking offenders accountable. When the court uses the tools to their disposal, it can be effective in holding stalking offenders accountable and protect victims at the same time.

Although various measures are provided to hold stalking offenders accountable, measures were not always available because of the COVID-19 pandemic. COVID-19 was the third theme under accountability measures for stalking offenders. One attorney explained that COVID-19 exacerbated interpersonal violence, menacing by stalking, and mental health. Other attorneys mentioned they could not refer their clients to specific treatment options because the waitlist was too long due to the pandemic. Judges pointed

out that they could not always use jail/prison time as an option to keep offenders locked up because the measure was discouraged due to the pandemic. One judge stated:

It is this Wild West mentality that you can get away with more during COVID. When I have someone who's been arrested, I'm told I must let someone out of jail because of COVID. So, if you are someone that has the mentality to stalk, you think you won't be held accountable, and the stalking may increase.

Another judge noted, "You have to be really careful with who you put in jail due to COVID."

## Support

Victim service professionals were asked about specific measures to support victims of stalking. Additionally, as the interviews progressed, judges and attorneys also mentioned types of support measures for victims of stalking. Table 8 lists the measures that were asked of participants, and each X represents one victim service professional who mentioned that specific type of support measure. Participants were offered the opportunity to pick more than one measure.

Table 8
Support Measures

-	Victim Service Professional
Safety planning	XXXXXXX
Documenting the behavior	XXXXX
Protection order	XXX
Liaising between the victim and the justice system	XX
Treatment	XX
Other strategy	X

Advocacy was the first theme under support for victims of stalking. Advocates were deemed by participants as the ones who have the most information about support services. Additionally, it was noted by participants that although victim advocates are great, there is not enough to go around for stalking victims. One judge noted victim advocates are the ones who provide treatment to victims of stalking. Another judge suggested the following:

We need to create the very role of a liaison between court services and services offered on the outside. We need an advocate in the sense that this individual will be assigned to walk survivors through life after granting a protection order.

Courtroom advocacy was also suggested by a judge: "It's important for advocates to stay in touch with victims and try to provide them with services and to cushion the blow of coming to court." Advocacy was not specifically listed as a support measure, but all eight advocates in the study mentioned in some way or another that their services certainly aid

in supporting victims through the process of managing stalking behavior. When one victim service professional was asked about any other strategies used to support victims of stalking, she proclaimed, "advocacy!"

Similar to accountability for stalking offenders, wraparound services was the second theme under support for victims of stalking. Rarely did a victim service professional only mention one form of support for a victim of stalking. One advocate described there needing to be a holistic approach to support services. Another advocate stated, "I think it's important to have a multifaceted plan to not only address trauma but also address safety." Additionally, "I don't think treatment can be effective until someone can increase their feelings of safety," explained a victim service professional. Specific to support measures, one advocated mentioned, "A protection order is needed because a lot of times stalking is hard to criminally prosecute but when you get that protection order, it can help with the documentation process." Another advocate added:

I definitely think safety planning is very important and vital in making sure the survivor has the main operation of what that safety plan looks like. Documenting is important because most judges and magistrates want a pattern of conduct with stalking. The more documents you have, the more credible police officers and the justice system will see the survivor.

One advocate pointed out providing support services does not always mean the stalking will stop:

Counseling, safety planning, and protection orders; all those things are put back on to the victim. Victims must change their life to implement the safety planning.

They have to face their stalker to even get a protection order. And then, counseling; it's a way for them to vent and express what they are going through as a victim of stalking. None of this necessarily stops the stalking behavior.

COVID-19 was the third theme under the category of support. Similar to COVID-19 impacting treatment options, the pandemic has also impacted support services for victims, in general. One advocate noted it was harder for clients to reach out because of COVID and when they did, it was harder to be connected to a resource. Another victim service professional went into more detail:

I think at the beginning of the pandemic, folks were hesitant to go forward in contacting law enforcement because there was a pretty big pause in our judicial system. So, a lot of hearings weren't happening, and people were getting released from incarceration. Protection orders were down because individuals weren't making reports. They were locked down, and again, seeing that things weren't moving forward in the local courts, that was a big hesitation. If they made that report, where are they going to be able to go, or what protection is going to be there for them?

Additionally, a judge noted, "I think the pandemic made victims feel more hopeless and helpless because they didn't have anybody checking in on them." An advocate agreed by saying the increase in isolation and loneliness made it more difficult to have someone checking in on them. Lastly, a judged noted that the inability to have person-to-person contact impacted victims' ability to be supported.

# **Improving Systems**

Training was one theme under the category of improving systems, whether that be the justice system or victim services. Only one judge out of six admitted to having some type of training on stalking, and that was when she was a prosecutor, not as a judge.

Judges were open about their lack of knowledge on the topic. One judge stated simply, "We didn't know what stalking meant." An attorney pointed out, "I don't know that judges appreciate the danger, and the risk stalkers pose." Another attorney specifically singled out 'the bench' as not being trained or educated on stalking. One judge noted she did not know much about stalking but one way to improve the justice system is to present on the topic at a judicial conference. Victim service professionals agreed that to improve both the justice system and victim services was to provide trainings on stalking. One advocate pointed out, "There are a lot of trainings on domestic violence but nothing specific on stalking." Another advocate described trainings for police officers and justice system personnel as "key and huge."

The second theme under improving systems was to use resources. One judge was cognizant enough to realize that if victims of stalking receive the services that they need to protect their mental health, they may be less afraid to contact the justice system if they continue to have issues. Another judge noted, "Any time I have those hair-raising situations in my courtroom, I never let women leave without resources." It was suggested by another judge to have the justice system create a bridge so survivors of domestic violence and/or stalking do not stay victims. "If survivors are provided meaningful, wraparound services, then they are able to have a meaningful life and they won't feel

financially strapped to go back to that person." The inconsistency of the justice system was mentioned by victim service professionals. One advocate suggested, "Wraparound resources are necessary so the disconnect between the judicial system and the education piece for the victims improves victims' understanding of what is available to them and that the justice system is there to support them." It was noted by a victim service professional that resources are only as good as professionals doing what they need to be doing to make their services available.

### **Summary**

Interviews with participants provided information to answer both research questions. The first research question addressed judges' and attorneys' perception of stalking victimization. Interviews showed that participants found stranger stalking, intimate partner stalking, and cyberstalking to pose a risk to victims. One negative stereotype mentioned by judges and attorneys was making up the behavior, especially to try to gain momentum in divorce or custody court. Other stereotypes included victims being crazy and bringing the stalking upon themselves. Judges and attorneys mentioned therapy as a treatment option for stalking victims, but judges especially noted there being limited to no treatment options specific to stalking. Judges and attorneys recommended a GPS monitor to hold stalking offenders accountable but also noted that wraparound services were the most effective. The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted both accountability measures for stalking perpetrators and support measures for victims. Judges proclaimed advocacy was needed to support victims of stalking and recommended wraparound services for victims. Lastly, judges and attorneys noted the lack of training

for justice system personnel and that the justice system may improve by using the resources at their disposal.

The second research question addressed victim service professionals' perception of stalking victimization. Interviews showed advocates agreed that stranger stalking, intimate partner stalking, and cyberstalking all posed a risk to victims. Victim service professionals noted therapy could be an option for perpetrators, although one advocate noted she did not find any treatment for a perpetrator of stalking to be effective.

Participants found that treatment for both perpetrators and victims of stalking is limited.

A GPS monitor could be used to hold stalking offenders accountable, but using wraparound service was the most effective because of the complicated nature of stalking behavior. Victim service professionals noted, like judges and attorneys, that the COVID-19 pandemic impacted accountability measures for perpetrators and support measures for victims of stalking. Advocates pointed out that their services is a great support to victims, but it should not stand alone. Wraparound services should be provided to support victims of stalking. To improve victim services, advocates suggested more training specific to stalking and that resources be used to surround victims with the most support.

Chapter 4 included the setting in which the interviews took place and the demographic information of the participants. Data collection, data analysis, and evidence of trustworthiness followed. The results of the study were explained in detail through categories and themes. Chapter 5 includes the interpretation of the findings, limitations of the study, recommendations for future research, and implications for positive social change.

### Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The purpose of this qualitative, phenomenological study was to advance the understanding of the perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization. Data were collected via semistructured interviews with judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals who worked with stalking perpetrators and/or victims of stalking in their current or past employment.

Chapter 5 includes a discussion of the interpretations of the findings, limitations of the study, future research recommendations, implications for positive social change, and the key essence of the study. The results of the study may provide valuable information on how to best support victims of stalking, encourage appropriate training for court personnel and victim service professionals, and encourage the justice system and victim service to use the resources available all while holding stalking offenders accountable and providing support to victims of stalking.

## **Interpretation of the Findings**

Participants noted across job classifications (i.e., judge, attorney, and victim service professional) that stalking posed a risk to victims. This finding parallels the previous research findings suggesting that stalking behavior is a predictor of homicide (Smith, 2020). A judge stated saying that she knew one victim of stalking would end up dead. Stalking is often an aftermath of domestic violence and a predictor of sexual violence (Matias et al., 2020; Musielak et al., 2020; National Center for Victims of Crime, 2018). Participants noted the link between domestic violence and stalking, specifically that the end of a relationship shifts power dynamics and abusers escalate their

behavior. A common misconception is that stranger stalking is more dangerous than those stalkers known to the victim (Cass, 2020). Participants noted that strangers who stalk often have a mental illness propelling their behavior and that it is terrifying for the victim. They added that former intimate partners caused a greater risk because of the emotional connection and their access to victims' lives, including their routine and relationship with others. This is similar to other researchers' findings indicating that stalking by former partners posed the greatest risk for physical harm because stalkers were privy to the victim's lifestyle, routines, family, friends, and schedule (Cass & Mallicoat, 2015; Fissel, 2019; Logan et al., 2006; Logan & Walker, 2009; Pathe & Mullen, 1997; Yahye et al., 2020).

Cyberstalking can be just as psychologically damaging as in-person stalking because of the duration and frequency of the exposure to traumatic experiences (Morris et al., 2020). Participants agreed that cyberstalking may cause just as much fear as in-person stalking; there is still a physical risk to victims because one cannot escape it, and perpetrators often use cyberstalking in conjunction with physical stalking. This finding parallels Logan and Lynch's (2017) noted, which is that stalkers are dangerous in a myriad of ways.

Purcell and McEwan (2018) found an absence of research on effective treatment measures for stalking behavior. The reason for this may simply be because there is none. Participants noted a lack of treatment options specific to stalking perpetrators and that often offenders are lumped in with domestic violence offenders. It is unknown whether traditional batterer intervention programs are effective for stalking offenders (Backes et

al., 2020). Many participants noted therapy as a way to curve stalking behaviors; however, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, waitlists for therapy were long, and this was a similar barrier for victims of stalking who were seeking treatment. Participants noted an absence of treatment options for stalking victims as well. Researchers have explained that although there are many helplines and support groups for domestic violence and sexual assault victims, there is little support for victims of stalking (Dreke et al., 2020). The participants suggested that if victims were going to seek therapy or counseling, the professional treating them should specialize in domestic violence stalking and/or trauma counseling.

Electronic monitoring, or GPS, was one accountability measure that several participants noted as an accountability measure for perpetrators of stalking. Besides electronic monitoring, participants stated that wraparound services were necessary when holding stalking offenders accountable. One attorney noted, "When you're using a combination of GPS monitoring, a protection order, and incapacitation, it can improve stalker accountability." One judge added, "If you have a stalker, you have a narcissist who knows how to manipulate the system. You have to knock them off their game. In order to do that, you have to do these all measures." Brame et al. (2015) agreed and noted that tougher sentencing outcomes, including prison time, probation, and mandated treatment, are necessary for those found guilty of stalking-type offenses.

Regarding support for victims of stalking, advocacy was deemed a major support measure for victims of stalking by participants of all three job classifications. This result confirms what research has previously shown. Lynch and Logan (2015) said that victims

of stalking may find comfort in victim service professionals. Additionally, according to the Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center (n.d.), victim engagement with victim service professionals increases their likelihood of safety. Besides wraparound services for victims, safety planning was mentioned by participants as the most important support measure. Stalking behavior is relentless, and stalkers are persistent, so victim engagement with victim service professionals is key for safety planning purposes and documenting incidents in order to build a stronger case (The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center, n.d.).

Documenting the behavior was another important support measure mentioned by advocates. Specifically, a protection order was a type of documentation that showed the victim was trying to get the behavior to cease. Protection orders increase the chance for police to file charges (Backes et al., 2020). One attorney noted, "Go get an order; it will fix the problem."

Training for justice system personnel and victim service professionals was one way participants from all three job classifications suggested to improve the justice system and victim services. For the justice system to have the appropriate tools to combat stalking, personnel must understand what constitutes stalking and precipitants of the behavior (Menard & Cox, 2015). One judge admitted, "We didn't know what stalking meant." Backet et al. (2020) said lack of understanding of stalking creates barriers to successfully ruling on stalking-type cases. Appropriately ruling on stalking-type cases is not the only benefit to training personnel, a reduction of further victimization may occur when personnel understand the behavior and can hold offenders accountable (Villacampa

& Salat, 2019). Boehnlein et al. (2020) and Scott et al. (2014) pointed out that justice system personnel needed more education and training on stalking. When the judge participants were asked whether they had received training on stalking, only one of the six said they had but even that occurred when she was a prosecutor and not a judge.

I used systems theory as the theoretical framework for the study. This theory was chosen because it may be applied to organizations by analyzing how they react, adjust, and realign to changing conditions (see Katz & Kahn, 1966). Touson et al. (2020) described the process explained in systems theory as beginning with systems receiving input from the environment. The goal of this study was to increase the understanding of the perceptions of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals regarding stalking victimization, which may be considered systems receiving information from outside entities (i.e., input). Tousen et al. reported that the next step in systems theory was to process the input internally. I was able to do this by asking participants what treatment is available for perpetrators and victims of stalking, how to manage stalking offenders and hold them accountable, and how to best support victims of stalking (i.e., process). Lastly, Tousen et al. said to evaluate how to release what has been learned back into the environment. One overarching theme of the study was to train and educate justice system personnel and victim service professionals on stalking victimization (i.e., output). Systems theory allows for the opportunity to analyze system viewpoints and then develop them (Vanderstraeten, 2019).

### **Limitations of the Study**

Recognizing limitations may help the integrity of a study remain. Specifically, recognizing my own biases increased the trustworthiness of this study. APA (2020) explained that when conducting studies, researchers' biases should be considered. Researcher bias was one potential limitation of the study. Having worked in the criminal justice system for the past 7 years and having been an advocate for victims of stalking myself, researcher bias was something I had to manage during the study. I expected that my experience would contradict what others in the industry thought of stalking victimization. Researchers can present evidence contrary to the general perspective of the phenomenon (Creswell & Creswell, 2018). However, to my surprise, I found myself agreeing with the perceptions of most participants. What was thought to be a limitation, as mentioned in Chapter 1, turned out to be an asset. I worked to avoid confirmation bias, or the tendency to include preexisting ideas of a phenomenon, by actively listening and avoiding persuading participants one way or another. Reflexivity increased the study's reliability and validity.

Quantitative studies yield more straightforward tests that can be applied to both reliability and validity. A second potential limitation to this study was the fact that qualitative research is less robust than quantitative or mixed method research. Qualitative research is much smaller than quantitative research in regard to participants. The goal in qualitative research is to reach data saturation, which occurred in this study after interviewing six judges, six attorneys, and eight victim service professionals. Participants

discussed their lived experiences of stalking victimization and by doing so, their perceptions were better understood.

A third limitation to the study was that outside forces could have impacted the sample size. My initial goal was to interview between 15 and 24 people, and that goal was met by interviewing 20 participants. The COVID-19 pandemic impacted my ability to interview participants in person. To accommodate issues that the pandemic presented, other modes of interviewing were considered, including over Zoom and by telephone. Inperson, one-on-one interviews took precedent over all other modes of interviewing, and I was able to conduct six interviews this way. Eleven interviews were held over Zoom, and three were done by telephone.

Boehnlein et al. (2020) noted that law enforcement, judges, prosecutors, and other criminal justice personnel need more education and training on the topic of stalking. Participants across all three job classifications agreed that training was lacking among justice system personnel and victim service professionals. A limitation previously mentioned in this study was that participants might be reticent to discuss their true perceptions of stalking victimization because of their unawareness of the behavior. Judges especially admitted their lack of training on stalking. One judge stated plainly, "We didn't know what stalking meant." I provided participants with the opportunity to expand on what was lacking in the justice system and victim services as it related to stalking victimization. By acknowledging that there were shortcomings, participants were more willing to talk about holes in the systems they had experienced. Specifically, participants mentioned there needed to be more training among personnel and the justice

system and victim service professionals needed to do a better job using the resources available to hold stalking offenders accountable while supporting victims throughout the process.

#### Recommendations

I specifically asked participants in the study about future research recommendations on stalking perpetrators and/or stalking victimization. Both stranger stalking and cyberstalking were mentioned as areas less understood by practitioners and policy makers (see Boehnlein et al., 2020; Fissel, 2019). An attorney wanted more research on the breakdown of what type of stalking is exclusively cyberstalking and exclusively physical stalking or a combination thereof. Another attorney noted needing more information on what technical assistance is available to prove cyberstalking, specifically hacking. An advocate noted with new technology being created every day, research on cyberstalking should be fluid and increasing.

Participants were very interested in effective treatment measures for stalking perpetrators. One attorney noted he was unaware of what mental health issues impact stalking perpetrators. Another attorney wondered what therapies could be offered that may affect the stalking behavior. "Treatment or under treatment should be researched," noted another attorney. Victim service professionals agreed that there needed to be more research on mental health diagnoses for perpetrators. Smith et al. (2020) noted that programs specific to control and why stalking perpetrators must possess it would be an area to research in the future. Additionally, more information on the clinical predispositions of stalkers, narcissism, anxiety, rejection, and poor coping strategies was

suggested by practitioners (Jijdam-Jones et al., 2018). Yahya et al. (2020) mentioned the COVID-19 pandemic impacting the ability for perpetrators to access services, which compounds stalking. I recommend future research be conducted on effective treatment options for perpetrators as well as the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on services for perpetrators and victims of stalking.

Although research is growing on stalking victimization, the criminal justice system's response to stalking victimization has been understudied (Brady et al., 2017). More research being needed on the impact of stalking was mentioned by Scott and Sheridan (2011). A victim service professional participant suggested that research be conducted on how the justice system can provide services to victims. An understanding of effective practices for improving victim engagement and safety is also needed (Backes et al., 2020). Brady and Nobles (2017) said there is a need to assess the criminal justice response to stalking by using alternative sources. A judge participant in the current study noted needing to understand how services can be provided by the justice system to victims of stalking while holding offenders accountable.

Effective training tools was another overarching theme that was mentioned by practitioners in the field and participants in the current study. Acquardro Maran and Varetto (2017) suggested that effective training course for justice system personnel and prevention courses for the general population are needed. One judge participant in the current study mentioned needing training on stalking, especially new types. Future research should be done to identify appropriate training tools and recommendations on how to best educate justice system personnel and victim service professionals. One judge

in the current study noted, "We need training. What does stalking even mean?" thus highlighting the importance of educating the judiciary but also that the education they receive should be systematic, overarching, and effective.

### **Implications**

Several participants said they were anxious to hear about the results of the study. This indicated a desire to learn more about perceptions judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals ascribed to stalking victimization. The results of the current study were shared with participants in the study, and I hope to find training opportunities to share the findings as well. Training was a major theme mentioned by participants, specifically that there is lack of education and training on stalking in the justice system and victim services field. Results of the study showed that wraparound services are necessary for accountability purposes for perpetrators of stalking and support services for victims. Understanding that not one thing is going to curve stalking or support victims was a revelation by participants and should be shared with the appropriate personnel. Positive social change may occur through these suggestions and cam impact individuals, the justice system, victim services, society, and policy. Obtaining a better understanding of the perceptions and experiences of judges, attorneys, and victim service professionals allowed for the opportunity to discuss the risk stalkers pose to victims, that accountability for perpetrators and support services for victims should be holistic, and that training as well as using available resources is a must to increase services provided by the justice system and victim services.

#### Conclusion

During the literature review, I found that there was a gap in judges', attorneys', and victim service personnel's perceptions of stalking victimization. Kinkaide et al. (2005) noted that understanding such perceptions may improve the response to stalking behavior. Both researchers and participants in the study noted the risk stalkers pose to their victims. Lynch et al. (2019) said because of the risk stalkers pose, professionals in the justice system and victim services should be competent in knowing how to assess victims' risk level. Thus, effective responses from the justice system and victim service professionals have the potential to save lives. The best comments to explain the importance of this study came from the participants themselves. One judge stated:

Thank you for doing the research. It really scares me when I see people treating these cases like every other case not realizing it's a conglomeration of a lot of things to get to the point where a stalking charge is being considered.

An advocate noted, "I think there is a lot of work to be done to figure out the best way that stalking perpetrators can get the help they need so that's not something they do anymore." Researchers and participants noted the lack of treatment options for stalkers, which is a future research recommendation. Two advocates noted the importance of starting with the victim and what they need/want to best support them. One stated:

I think centering and honoring what that survivor wants and what justice is to them is the best way to support them. Jail and fines don't necessarily benefit the victim, nor does it stop the stalking. I think listening to what they want in reference to the case is essential.

The other one noted:

I think the best way to improve victim services is to start by believing them. I think so many times you might have a survivor come in and it sounds super bizarre. That's their life and we need to make sure we are understanding them and giving them support. We need to really work with that person and believe them. We need to work with the survivor to figure out the best way to keep them safe from the stalking perpetrator.

Justice system personnel and victim service professionals need to work with survivors.

Not for them or against them. With them.

Chapter 5 included the interpretations of the findings. Limitations of the study and future researcher recommendations were also discussed. Lastly, implications for positive social change concluded the chapter.

## References

- Acquadro Maran, D., & Varetto, A. (2017). Motives to report stalking cases to the police:

  A comparison between a large city and a small town in Italy. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*, 28-26(5), 507-524.

  https://doi.org/10.1080/10926771.2016.1270380
- Acquardo Maran, D., Varetto, A., Corona, I., & Tirassa, M. (2020). Characteristics of the stalking campaign. Consequences and coping strategies for men and women that report their victimization to the police. *PLoS One*, *15*(2), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0229830
- Ameral, V., Palm, Reed, K., & Hines, D. (2020). An analysis of help-seeking patterns among college student victims of sexual assault, dating violence, and stalking.

  \*Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 35(23-24), 5311-5335.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260517721169
- American Psychological Association. (2020). *Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association* (7th ed.).
- Backes, B., Fedina, L., Holmes, L., & Lynne, J. (2020). The criminal justice response to intimate partner stalking: A systemic review of quantitative and qualitative research. *Journal of Family Violence*, *35*(7), 665-678. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896=020-00139-3

- Banyard, V. L. (2014). Improving college-based prevention of violence against women:

  A strategic plan for research built on multipronged practices and policies. *Trauma, Violence, and Abuse, 15*(4), 339-351.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838014521027
- Banyard, V., Demers, J., Cohn, E., Edwards, K., Moynihan, M., Walsh, W., & Ward, S. (2020). Academic correlates of unwanted sexual conduct intercourse, stalking, and intimate partner violence: An understudied but important consequence for college students. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 35(21-22), 4375-4392. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260517715022
- Baum, K., Catalano, S., Rand, M., & Rose, K. (2009). *Stalking victimization in the United States* (No. NCJ224527). Bureau of Justice Statistics.
- Becker, G. (1997). *The gift of fear*. Dell Publishing.
- Bennett Cattaneo, L., Cho, S., & Botuck, S. (2011). Describing intimate partner stalking over time. An effort to inform victim-centered service provision. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 26(17), 3428-3454. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260511403745
- Black, M. C., Basile, K. C., Breiding, M. J., Smith, S. G., Walters, M. L., Merrick, M. T., Chen, J., & Stevens, M. R. (2011). *The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2010 summary report.* National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov

- Bock, T., & Sergeant, J. (2002). Small sample market research. *International Journal of Research*, *44*(2), 235. https://doi.org/10.1177/147078530204400205
- Boddy, C. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal*, 19(4), 426-432. https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053
- Boehnlein, T., Kretschmar, J., Regoeczi, W., & Smialek, J. (2020). Responding to stalking victims: Perceptions, barriers, and directions for future research. *Journal of Family Violence*, 35(7), 755-768. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-020-00147-3
- Brady, P. Q., & Hayes, B. E. (2018). The intersection of stalking and the severity of intimate partner abuse. *Violence and Victims*, *33*(2), 218–238. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708.VV-D-16-00193
- Brady, P., & Nobles, M. (2017). The dark figure of stalking: Examining law enforcement response. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *32*(20), 3149-3173. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260515596979
- Brady, P., Reynes, B., & Dreke, R. (2020). A sign of the crimes: Examining officers' identification of, and arrest for, stalking in domestic violence complaints. *Police Quarterly*, 23(4), 500-526. https://doi.org/10.1177/1098611120923155
- Brame, R., Kaukinen, C., Gover, A., & Lattimore, P. (2015). No contact orders, victim safety, and offender recidivism in cases of misdemeanor criminal domestic violence: A randomized experiment. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 40(2), 225-249. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-014-9242-x

- Brewster, M. (2001). Legal help-seeking experiences of former intimate stalking victims.

  \*Criminal Justice Policy Review, 12(2), 91–112.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0997403401012002
- Bureau of Justice Statistics. (2019). *Number of violent victimizations by injury, 2019*.

  Generated using the NCVS Victimization Analysis Tool. http://www.bjs.gov
- Burkholder, G. J., Cox, K. A., & Crawford, L. M. (Eds.). (2016). *The scholar-practitioner's guide to research design*. Laureate Publishing.
- Campbell, J. C., Webster, D., Koziol-McLain, J., Block, C., Campbell, D., Curry, M. A., Gary, F., Glass, N., McFarlane, J., Sechs, C., Sharps, P., Ulrich, Y., Wilt, S., Manganello, J., Xu, X., Schollenberger, J., Frye, V., & Laughon, K. (2003). Risk factors for femicide in abusive relationships: Results from a multisite case control study. *American Journal of Public Health*, *93*(7), 1089–1097. https://doi.org/10. 2105/AJPH.93.7.1089
- Cass, A. (2020). College students' perceptions of victim responsibility in stalking incidents. *Journal of Criminal Justice Education*, 31(3), 353-371. https://doi.org/10.1080/10511253.2020.1739723
- Cass, A., & Mallicoat, S. (2015). College students' perceptions of victim action: Will targets of stalking report to the police? *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 40(2), 250-270. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-014-9252-8

- Calton, J. M., Cattaneo, L. B., & Gebhard, K. T. (2016). Barriers to help seeking for lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer survivors of intimate partner violence. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 17*, 585-600. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838015585318
- Carter, T. B. (2016). Local, state, and federal responses to stalking: Are anti-stalking laws effective? *William & Mary Journal of Women and the Law*, 22(2), 333–391. https://repository.belmont.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1038&context=lawfaculty
- Chen, J., Walters, M., Gilbert, L., & Patel, N. (2020). Sexual violence, stalking, and intimate partner violence, by sexual orientation, United States. *Psychology of Violence*, 10(1), 110-119. https://doi.org/10.1037/vio0000252
- Coleman, F. L. (1997). Stalking behavior and the cycle of domestic violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 12(3), 420-432.
- Creswell, J. (1998). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five traditions. Sage Publishing.
- Creswell, J. W., & Creswell, J. D. (2018). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage Publishing.
- Dardis, C., & Gidycz, C. (2019). The psychological toll of unwanted pursuit behaviors and intimate partner violence on undergraduate women: A dominance analysis.

  \*Psychology of Violence, 9(2), 209-220. https://doi.org/10.1037/vio0000189De

- Demers, J., Ward, S., Walsh, W., Banyard, V., Cohn, E., Edwards, K., & Moynihan, M. (2017). Disclosure on campus: Students' decisions to tell others about unwanted experiences, intimate partner violence, and stalking. *Journal of Aggression and Trauma*, 27(1), 54-71. https://doi.org/10.1080.10926771.2017.1382631
- Dragga, S., & Voss, D. (2020). Research ethics is a tricycle, not a unicycle: The role of researchers, reviewers, and editors. *AMWA Journal: American Medical Writers Association Journal*, *35*(4), 172-176.
- Drebing, H., Gass, P., Schultz, K., Kuehner, C. (2020). The prevalence and effects of stalking. *Deutsches Arzteblatt International*, *15*(117), 347-353. https://doi.org/10.3238/arztebl.2020.0347
- Dreke, R., Johnson, L., & Landhuis, J. (2020). Challenges with recommendations for intimate partner stalking policy and practice: A practitioner perspective. *Journal of Family Violence*, *35*(7), 769-779. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-020-00164-2
- Dunlap, E. E., Lynch, K. R., Jewell, J. A., Wasarhaley, N. E., & Golding, J. M. (2015).
  Participant gender, stalking myth acceptance, and gender role stereotyping in perceptions of intimate partner stalking: A structural equation modelling approach. *Psychology, Crime & Law, 21*, 234–253.
  http://doi.org/10.1080/1068316X.2014.951648
- Dunn, J. (2002). *Courting disaster: Intimate stalking, culture, and criminal justice.*Aldine de Gruyter.

- Englebrecht, C., & Chavez, J. (2014). Whose statement is it? An examination of victim impact statements delivered in court. *Victims and Offenders*, *9*(4), 386-412. https://doi.org/10.1080/15564886.2013.838615
- Engward, H., & Goldspink, S. (2020). Lodgers in the house: Living with the data in interpretive phenomenological analysis research. *Reflective Practice*, 21(1), 41-53. https://doi.org/10.1080/14623943.2019.1708305
- Ertl, A., Sheats, K. J., Petrosky, E., Betz, C. J., Yuan, K., & Fowler, K. A. (2019).

  Surveillance for violent deaths National violent death reporting system, 32 states, 2016. *MMWR Surveillance Summaries*, 68, (No. SS-9), 1-36.

  https://doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.ss.6809alexternalicon
- Eterovic-Sonic, B., Ashman, H., Mubrank, S., & Choo, K. (2017). Stalking the stalkers-detecting and deterring stalking behaviors using technology: A review. *Computers and Security*, 70, 278-289. https://doi.org/10.101016/j.cose.2017.06
- Federal Bureau of Investigation. (2019). *Crime in the United States*, 2018. https://ucr.fbi.gov/crime-in-the-u.s/2018/ crime-in-the-u.s.-2018/talbes/expandedhomicide-data-table-10.xls.
- Fedina, L., Backes, B., Sulley, C., Wood, L., & Busch-Armendariz, N. (2020).

  Prevalence and sociodemographic factors associated with stalking victimization among college students. *Journal of American College Health*, 68(6), 624-630. https://doi.org/10.1080/07338481.2019.1583664

- Fissel, E. (2019). The aftermath of cyberstalking: School, work, social, and health costs of victimization. *American Journal of Criminal Justice*, 45(1), 70-87. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12103-019-09489-1
- Fox, K., Nobles, M., & Fisher, B. (2016). A multi-theoretical framework to assess gendered stalking victimization: The utility of self-control, social learning, and control balance theories. *Justice Quarterly*, *33*(2), 319-347. https://doi.org/10.1080/07418802.2014. 902958
- Griner, S., Vamos, C., Thompson, E., Logan, R., Vazquez-Otero, C., & Daley, E. (2020).

  The intersection of gender identity and violence: Victimization experienced by transgender college students. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 1-22. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260517723743
- Guest, G., Namey, E., & Mitchell, M. (2013). *Collecting qualitative data: A field manual for applied research*. Sage Publications.
- Hailes, H., Ceccolini, C., Gutowski, E., & Liang, B. (2021). Ethical guidelines for social justice in psychology. *Professional Psychology: Research & Practice*, 52(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1037/pro0000291
- Hall, D. (1998). The victims of stalking. In J. R. Meloy (Ed.), *The psychology of stalking* (pp. 113-137). Academic Press.
- Hare, R. D. (2003). *The Hare psychopathy checklist—Revised* (2nd ed.). Multi-Health Systems.
- Harrison, M. (2005). *Diagnosing organizations: Methods, models, and processes*. Sage Publishing Inc.

- Hills, A., & Taplin, J. (1998). Anticipated responses to stalking: Effect of threat and target-stalker relationship. *Psychiatry, Psychology and Law, 5*(1), 139-146. https://doi.org/10.1080/13218719809524927
- Huttenen, R., & Kakkori, L. (2020). Heidegger's theory of truth and its importance for the quality of qualitative research. *Journal of Philosophy and Education*, *54*(3), 600-616. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9752.12429
- Katz, D., & Kahn, R. (1996). Social psychology of organizations. Wiley-Blackwell.
- Kinkade, P., Burns, R. & Fuentes, A. I. (2005). Criminalizing attractions: Perceptions of stalking and the stalker. *Crime & Delinquency*, *51*(1), 3-25. https://doi.org/10.1177/001128703262462
- Kivisto, A. J. (2015). Male perpetrators of intimate partner homicide: A review and proposed typology. *Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and Law*, 43(3), 300–312. https://jaapl.org/content/jaapl/43/3/300.full.pdf
- Klein, A., Salomon, A., Huntington, N., Dubois, J., & Lange, D. (2009). A statewide study of stalking and its criminal justice response. National Institute of Justice,
  Office of Justice Programs, Department of Justice.
  https://doi.org/10.1037/e619592009-001
- Korstjens, I, & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

  4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *The European Journal of General Practice*,

  24(1), 120-124. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092

- Lai, C., & Lin, S. (2017). Systems theory. In W. Blackwell (Ed.), *The international encyclopedia of organizational communication* (pp. 1-18). John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Langenderfer-Magruder, L., Walls, E., Whitfield, D., Kattari, S., & Ramos, D. (2020).

  Stalking victimization in LGBTQ adults: A brief report. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *35*(5-6), 1442-1453. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260517696871
- Laverty,S. (2003). Hermeneutic phenomenology and phenomenology: A comparison of historical and methodological considerations. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 2(3), https://doi.org/10.1177160940690300200303
- Law Center to Prevent Gun Violence. (2016). *Domestic violence & firearms*.

  http://smartgunlaws.org/gun-laws/policy-areas/background-checks/domestic-violence-firearms/
- Leggett, Z. (2017). Now or never? How imminent must a fear of violence be for the purpose of s. 4A of the Protection from Harassment Act 1997? R v Qosja (Robert) [2016] EWCA Crim. 1543. *Journal of Criminal Law*, 81(1), 17-19. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022018316685489
- Lippman, J. R. (2018). I did it because I never stopped loving you: The effects of media portrayals of persistent pursuit on beliefs about stalking. *Communication*\*Research, 45(3), 394–412. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093650215570653
- Logan, T. K., & Walker, R. (2017). Stalking: A multidimensional framework for assessment and safety planning. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 18*(2), 200-220. https://doi.org1177/152483 8015603210

- Logan, T., & Walker, R. (2009). Partner stalking: Psychological dominance or "business as usual"? *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 10*(3), 247–270. https://doi.org/10.1177/152483009 34461
- Logan, T. K., Walker, R., Stewart, C., & Allen, J. (2006). Victim service and justice system representative responses about partner stalking: What do professionals recommend? *Violence and Victims*, 21(1), 49–66.

  https://doi.org/10.1891/vivi.21.1.49
- Lynch, K. R., Jackson, D. B., & Logan, T. K. (2019). Coercive control, stalking, and guns: Modeling service professionals' perceived risk of potentially fatal intimate partner gun violence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519839419Lynch, K. R., & Logan, T. K. (2015).

  Police officers' attitudes and challenges with charging stalking. Violence and Victims, 30(6), 1037-1048. https://doi.org/10.1891/0886-6708
- Lynch, K. R., & Logan, T. K. (2017). Implementing domestic violence gun confiscation policy in rural and urban communities: Assessing the perceived risk, benefits, and barriers. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *35*(21-22). http://doi.org/10.1177/0886260517719081
- Magyarics, C., Lynch, K., Golding, J., & Lippert, A. (2015). The impact of frequency of behavior and type of contact on judgements involving a criminal stalking case.

  Law and Human Behavior, 39(6), 602-613. https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000151

- Mason, M. (2010). Sample size and saturation in PhD studies using qualitative interviews. Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 11(3). https://doi.org/doaj.org/article/2657f6fdbc8d4873b9f03b81307524ad
- Matias, A., Goncalves, M., Soeiro, C., & Matos, M. (2020). Intimate partner homicide:

  Ameta-analysis of risk factors. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 50.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2019.101358
- McEwan, T.E., Daffern, M, MacKenzie, R.D., Ogloff, J. R. (2017). Risk factors for stalking violence, persistence, and recurrence. *The Journal of Forensic Psychiatry* & *Psychology*. 28(1), 38–56. https://doi.org/10.1080/14789949.2016.1247188
- Meloy, R., & Felthouse, A. (2011). Introduction to this issue: Interpersonal perspectives on stalking. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, 29, 139-140. https://doi.org/10.1002/bsl.982
- Meloy, R., Rivers, L., Siegel, L. Gothard, S., Naimark, D., & Nicolini, R. (2000). A replication study of obsessional followers and offenders with mental disorders.

  \*Journal of Forensic Sciences, 45(1), 189-194.
  - $https://dreeidmeloy.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/12/2000\_AReplicationStu.pdf$
- Menard, K., & Cox, A. (2015). Stalking victimization, labeling, and reporting: Findings from the NCVS Stalking Victimization Survey. *Violence Against Women*, 22(6), 671-691. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801215610862

- Messing, J., Bagwell-Gray, M., Brown, M.L., Kappas, A., & Durfee, A. (2020).

  Intersections of stalking and technology-based abuse: Emerging definitions, conceptualization, and measurement. *Journal of Family Violence*, *35*, 693-704. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-019-00114-7
- Murray, C., Horton, G., Johnson, C., Notestine, L., Garr, B., Pow, A. Flasch, A., & Doom, E. (2015). Domestic violence service providers' perceptions of safety planning: A focus group study. *Journal of Family Violence*, 30(3), 381-391. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-015-9674-1
- Morris, M., Bailey, & B., Ruiz, E. (2020). Pain in the acute aftermath of stalking:

  Associations with post-traumatic stress symptoms, depressive symptoms, and posttraumatic cognitions. *Violence Against Women*, 26(11), 1343-1361.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/10778 801219857829
- Musielak, N., Jaffe, P., & Lapshina, N. (2020). Barriers to safety for victims of domestic violence. *Psychology, Crime, & Law*, 26(5), 461-478.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/1068316X.2019.1670178
- Myers, R. K., Nelson, D. B., & Forke, C. M. (2016). Occurrence of stalking victimization among female and male undergraduate students. *Journal of College Student*Development, 57(2), 213–218. https://doi.org/10.1353/csd.2016.0015

- National Academies of Science, Engineering, and Medicine. (2018). Sexual harassment of women. climate, culture, and consequences in Academic Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. The National Academy Press. https://doi.org/10.17226/24994
- National Center for Victims of Crime. (2018). *National crime victims' rights week*resource guide: Crime and victimization fact sheet.

  https://ovc.ojp.gov/sites/g/files/xyckuh226/files/ncvrw2018/info\_flyers/fact\_sheet
  s/2018NCVRW\_Stalking\_508\_QC\_v2.pdf
- National Stalking Awareness Month, 2013, 78 F.R. 1125 (proposed January 7, 2013). https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2013/01/07/2013-00204/national-stalking-awareness-month-2013
- National Institute of Justice. (1996). Domestic violence: Stalking, and anti-stalking legislation: An annual report to congress under the Violence Against Women Act.

  U.S. Department of Justice.
- Nichols, A. (2020). Advocacy responses to intimate partner stalking: Micro, mezzo, and macro level practices. *Journal of Family Violence*, *35*(7), 741-753. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-019-00125-4
- Nijdam-Jones, A., Rosenfeld, B., Gerbrandij, J., Quick, E., & Galietta, M. (2018).

  Psychopathology of stalking offenders: Examining the clinical, demographic, and stalking characteristics of a community-based sample. Criminal Justice and Behavior, 45(5), 712–731. https://doi.org/10.1177/0093854818760643

- Ngo, F. T., & Paternoster, R. (2016). Toward an understanding of the emotional and behavioral reactions to stalking: A partial test of general strain theory. *Crime & Delinquency*, 62(6), 703–727. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011128713510077
- Nobles, M., Cramer, R, Zottola, S., Desmarals, S., Gemberling, T., Holley, S., & Wright, S. (2018). Prevalence rates, reporting, and psychological correlates of stalking victimization: Results from a three-sample cross sectional study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *53*, 1253-1263. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00127-018-1557-3
- Nobles, M., Reynes, B., Fox, K., & Fisher, B. (2014). Protection against pursuit: A conceptual and empirical comparison of cyberstalking and stalking victimization among a national sample. *Justice Quarterly*, *31*, 986-1014. https://doi.org/10.1080/07418825.2012.7230-30
- Office on Women's Health. (n.d.). *Are there laws against stalking?*https://www.womenshealth.gov/relationships-and-safety/other-types/stalking
- Owens, J. (2016). Why definitions matter: Stalking victimization in the United States.

  \*\*Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 31(12), 1552-1618.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260515573577
- Pathe, M., & Mullen, P. (1997). The impact of stalkers on their victims. Journal of Psychiatry, 170(1), 12-17. https://www-proquest.com.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ docview/274867878?accountid=14872
- Patton, M. (2015). Qualitative research and evaluation methods. Sage Publishing.

- Perry, D. (2013). Transcendental method for research with human subjects: A transformative phenomenology for the human services. *Field Methods*, 25(3), 262-282. https://doi.org/10.1177/152822X12467105
- Podana, Z., & Imriskova, R. (2016). Victims' responses to stalking: An examination of fear levels and coping strategies. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *31*(5), 792-809. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260514556764
- Purcell, R., & McEwan, T. (2018). Treatment approaches for stalking. In C. Ireland, J. Ireland, & P. Birch (Eds.). *Violent and sexual offenders: Assessment, treatment and management* (pp. 428–444). Routledge.
- Rai, A., Villarreal-Otalora, T., Blackburn, J., & Choi, Y. (2020). Correlates of intimate partner stalking precipitated homicides in the United States. *Journal of Family Violence*, *35*(7), 705-716. https://doi.org? 10.1007/s10896-020-00137-5
- Raine, A. (2013). *The anatomy of violence: The biological roots of crime*. Pantheon Books.
- Reyns, B., & Englebrecht, C. (2014). Informal and formal help-seeking decisions of stalking victims in the United States. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 41(10), 1178-1194. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/0093854814541441
- Rory, K. (2020). The problematic development of the Stalking Protection Order. Modern Law Review, 83(2), 406-427. https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-2230.12508
- Rosay, A.B., Backes, B.L. & Wang, A. (2019) Psychometric analyses of stalking measures from the National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey.

  \*\*Journal of Family Violence, 35, 717-728. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-019-001

- Rosenfield, B., Galietta M., Foellmi, M., Coupland, S., Turner, Z., Stern, S., Wijetunga, C., Gerbrandij, J., & Ivanoff, A. (2019). Dialectical behavioral therapy (DBT) for the treatment of stalking offenders: A randomized controlled study. *Law and Human Behavior*, 43(4), 319-328. https://doi.org/10.1037/lhb0000336
- Rubin, H., & Rubin, I. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data*. Sage Publishing.
- Sandelowski, M. (1995). Sample size in qualitative research. *Research in Nursing and Health*, 18(2), 179-183. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.4770180211
- Sapolsky, R. (2017). *Behave: The biology of humans at our best and worst*. Penguin Press.
- Scott, A. J., Rajakaruna, N., Sheridan, L., & Sleath, E. (2014). Interpersonal perceptions of stalking and responsibility: The influence of prior relationship and severity of behavior. *Criminal Justice and Behavior*, 41(2), 220–236. http://doi.org/10.1177/0093854813500956
- Scott, A., & Sheridan, L. (2011). "Reasonable" perceptions of stalking: The influence of conduct severity and perpetrator-target relationship. *Psychology, Crime & Law*, 17(4), 331-343. https://doi.org/10.1080/10683160903203961
- Sheridan, L., Arianayagam, J., & Chan, H. (2019). Perceptions and experiences of intrusive behavior and stalking within a culture. *Psychology, Crime, & Law,* 25(4), 381-395. https://doi.org/10.1080/1068316X.2018.1529233

- Sheridan, L., Scott, A., & Campbell, A. (2019). Perceptions and experiences of intrusive behavior and stalking: Comparing LGBTIQ and heterosexual groups. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, *34*(7), 1388-1409. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260516651313
- Sheridan, L, Scott A., Roberts, K. (2016). Young women's experiences of intrusive behavior in 12 countries. *Aggressive Behavior*, 42(1), 41–53. https://doi.org/10.1002/ab.21604 PMID: 26299620
- Sheridan, L. P., & Grant, T. (2007). Is cyberstalking different? *Psychology, Crime, and Law*, *13*(6), 627-240. https://doi.org/10.1080/10683160701340528
- Smith, J. (2020). Intimate partner femicide: Using Foucauldian analysis to track an eight stage progression to homicide. *Violence Against Women*, 26(11), 1267-1285. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801219863876
- Spencer, C. M., & Stith, S. M. (2018). Risk factors for male perpetration and female victimization of intimate partner homicide: A meta-analysis. *Trauma, Violence*, & *Abuse*, 21(3), 527-540. https://doi.org/10.1177/152483801878110
- The Stalking, Prevention, Awareness, and Resource Center. (n.d.). *Stalking response tips*for prosecutors. https://www.stalkingawareness.org/wpcontent/uploads/2018/12Response-Tips-for-Prosecutors.pdf

Stalking §2261A, 132 Stat. §4982 (2018).

- Stermack, L., Cripps, J., & Badali, V. (2018). Women's experiences of stalking on campus: Behavior changes and access to university resources. *Canadian Women Studies*, 32(1-2). https://go-galecom.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/ps/i.do?p=EAIM&u =MINN4020&id=GALE%CA551496031&2.1&it=r&sid=ebsco
- Sweet, P. (2019). The sociology of gas lighting. *American Sociological Review*, 84(5), 851-875. https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122419874843
- Taylor-Dunn, H., Bowen, E., & Gilchrist, E. (2018). Reporting harassment and stalking to the police. A qualitative study of victims' experiences. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 1-28. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260518811426
- Touson, J., Azad, N., Depue, C., Crimmins, T., & Long, R. (2021). An application of Harrison's system theory model to spark a rapid telehealth expansion in the time of COVID-19. *Learning Health Systems*, *5*(1), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1002/lrh2.10239
- Vanderstraeten, R. (2019). Systems everywhere? *Systems Research and Behavior Science*, 36(3), 255-262. https://doi.org/10.1002/sres.2596
- Villacampa, C., & Salat, M. (2019). Stalking: Victims' and professionals' views of legal and institutional treatment. (2019). *International Journal of Law, Crime and Justice*, 59, 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijlcj.2019.100345
- Waters, E., Jindasurat, C., & Wolfe, C. (2016). *Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, and HIV-affected hate violence*. A report from the National Coalition of

  Anti-Violence Programs. https://avp.org/wp
  content/uploads/2017/04/ncavp\_hvreport\_2015\_final.pdf

- Wheatley, R., Winder, B., & Kuss, D. (2020). What are the features for psychopathy for men who commit stalking offenses? A systemic review. *Aggression and Violent Behavior*, 55, 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2020.101461
- Wilson, C., Sheridan, L., & Garratt-Reed, D. (2021). What is cyberstalking? A review of measurements. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260520-985489
- Wood, M., & Stichman, A. (2018). Stalking on the college campus: The influence of suitable target and guardianship variables on victimization comparing male and female students. *Victims and Offenders*, 13(4), 487-503.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/15564886.2017.1377656
- Woodlock, D. (2017). The abuse of technology in domestic violence and stalking. *Violence Against Women*, 23(5), 584-602.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801216646277
- Yahya, A., & Khawaja, S. (2020). Stalking and COVID-19: Consequences of a pandemic. *The Primary Companion for CNS Disorders*, 22(4). https://doi.org/10.4088/PCC.20com0269

# Appendix A: Demographic Questions

- 1. Do you identify as male, female, or other? (Please list other or note non answer.)
- 2. How old are you?
- 3. What race do you identify as?
- 4. How many years of service have you worked as a judge, attorney, or victim service professional?
- 5. Have you taken part in any trainings specific to stalking victimization?
- 6. With your current or past employment, does your role or function allow you to work with stalking perpetrators or victims?

### Appendix B: Interview Questions

- 1. What has been your experience working with victims of stalking and/or perpetrators of stalking?
- 2. What negative stereotypes are commonly believed about stalking victims?
- 3. Do you find stalkers who pursue strangers or former intimate partners to pose the most risk to victims, why or why not?
- 4. What are the effects of physical stalking on victims?
- 5. What are the effects of cyberstalking on victims?
- 6. Regarding victims, what are the effects of cyberstalking versus physical stalking?
- 7. In your opinion, since the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, has cyberstalking become more prevalent than physical stalking? Explain your answer.
- 8. In your opinion, how has the COVID-19 pandemic impacted the incidents and prevalence of stalking victimization?
- 9. What treatment is available for stalking offenders in your community?
- 10. Of the treatment offered in your community for stalking offenders, which one/ones do you find to be the most effective?
- 11. What treatment is available for victims of stalking in your community?
- 12. Of the treatment offered in your community for stalking victims, which one/ones do you find to be the most effective?

13. Based on the role and job function you mentioned previously, which of the following strategies do you find to be most effective in holding stalking offenders accountable?

### A. Judicial

- a. Prison Time
- b. Pre-Trial Services/Diversion Program
- c. Protection Order
- d. Probation/Parole
- e. Treatment
- f. Other Strategies (Explain strategy)

### B. Prosecution

- a. Prison Time
- b. Pre-Trial Services/Diversion Program
- c. Protection Order
- d. Probation/Parole
- e. Treatment
- f. Other Strategies (Explain strategy)

# C. Defense Attorney

- a. Prison Time
- b. Pre-Trial Services/Diversion Program
- c. Protection Order
- d. Probation/Parole

- e. Treatment
- f. Other Strategies (Explain strategy)
- 14. Based on the role and job function you mentioned previously, which of the following strategies do you find to be most effective when providing support to victims of stalking?
  - A. Victim Service Professional
    - a. Safety Planning
    - b. Documenting the Behavior
    - c. Protection Order
    - d. Liaising Between the Victim and the Justice System
    - e. Treatment
    - f. Other Strategies (Explain strategy)
- 15. Do you believe the current strategies used to manage and monitor stalking perpetrators are effective? Please provide detailed content of your answer.
- 16. From the perspective of your role or function you mentioned previously, how could the justice system and/or victim services improve the way they interact with victims of stalking?
- 17. What suggestions do you have for future research on the topic of stalkers and/or stalking victimization?
- 18. Do you have anything else you would like to share that we have not already covered regarding stalkers and/or stalking victimization?